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CORPORATE MISSION AND VALUES

We are one of Europe’s leading operators in the integrated management 

and construction of gas infrastructure in terms of regulatory asset base. 

Our business is the transportation, storage, regasification and distribution 

of natural gas. We manage a national transportation network that is more 

than 32,000 km long, including eight storage facilities, one regasification plant 

and an urban distribution network that covers more than 52,000 km in total.

We provide our customers with a safe and reliable service over time. 

We do this by using the principles of competition to develop infrastructure 

and make the gas system more flexible, and by ensuring equal access 

and treatment for all.

Our aim is to create value so that we can fulfil the expectations of all our 

stakeholders. We pursue this goal with the support of our workforce of more 

than 6,000 people, who use their unique professional expertise on a daily basis 

to create growth that is sustainable, environmentally friendly and responsible 

towards the areas and communities where we work.
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Disclaimer

This report includes forward-looking statements, especially in the “Outlook” section, relating to: natural 

gas demand, investment plans, future operating performance and project execution.

Such statements are, by their very nature, subject to risk and uncertainty as they depend on whether future 

events and developments take place. The actual results may therefore differ from those forecast as a result 

of several factors: trends in natural gas demand, supply and price, actual operating performance, general 

macro-economic conditions, geopolitical factors such as international tensions, the effect of new energy 

and environmental legislation, the successful development and implementation of new technologies, 

changes in stakeholders’ expectations and other changes in business conditions.
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Corporate bodies

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (*) BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS (*)
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HIGHlIGHTS

Financial highlights

- In the first half of 2013, Snam generated EBIT of €1,020 million, an increase of €7 million, or 

0.7%, compared with the first half of 2012. The increase in revenue from regulated activities 

recorded in all business segments was partly offset by higher amortisation and depreciation, 

attributable mainly to the entry into service of new infrastructure. The EBIT reflects the solid 

performance of the storage business segment (+€14 million; +8.8%) and the improvement 

recorded by the transportation business segment (+€4 million; +0.7%), despite the fall in 

demand for gas, the effects of which were partly offset by the decrease in the distribution 

segment (-€7 million; -2.7%).

- Net profit in the first half of 2013 totalled €462 million, down by €46 million, or 9.1%, compared 

with the first half of 2012, due essentially to higher net financial expense (-€95 million). Excluding 

the effects of the early extinguishment of a term loan worth €1.5 billion taken out by Snam in 

July 2012 as part of its debt restructuring, net financial expense rose by €64 million. This increase 

was due to the increased average cost of debt and to the higher average debt for the period. These 

factors were partly offset by lower income taxes (+€31 million), due mainly to the reduction in 

pre-tax profit.

- Net cash flow from operations, totalling €919 million, was sufficient to finance all requirements 

related to net investments for the period, which amounted to €577 million, and to generate 

free cash flow of €342 million. The net financial debt of €12,560 million, after the payment to 

shareholders of the balance of the 2012 dividend of €507 million, increased by €162 million 

compared with 31 December 2012.

- On the basis of the full year 2013 expected results, the CEO will recommend to the Board of 

Directors of Snam S.p.A., subject to the approval of the independent auditors as referred to in 

Article 2433-bis of the Italian Civil Code, the payment to shareholders of a 2013 interim dividend 

of €0.10 per share (€0.10 per share in 2012) with an ex-dividend date of 21 October 2013 and a 

dividend date of 24 October 2013.

- Investments for the first half of 2013 totalled €490 million (€524 million in the first half of 2012). 

Incentivised investments represent around 68% of total investments.

- Snam’s shares closed the first half of 2013 at an official price of €3.48, down by 1.1% compared 

with the closing price recorded at the end of December 2012. The Company’s share price fell to a 

lesser extent than the Italian stock market as a whole (the FTSE MIB index fell by -6.4%) and the 

European utilities sector (the STOXX Europe Utilities index closed down by -3.5%).

Operating highlights

- In total, 34.49 billion cubic metres of natural gas were injected into the national gas transportation 

network in the first half of 2013, a reduction of €6.36 billion cubic metres, or 15.6%, compared 

with the corresponding period of the previous year. The reduction was due to lower demand for 

natural gas in Italy, mainly as a result of lower consumption in the thermoelectric sector (-21.0%) 

and of considerably higher net withdrawals from storage than in the first half of 2012 (-3.51 billion 

cubic metres).

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Highlights
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- During the first half of 2013, the Panigaglia LNG terminal regasified 0.05 billion cubic metres 

of natural gas (0.79 billion cubic metres in the first half of 2012). The reduction in volumes 

regasified was due mainly to the global trend in demand for LNG, which resulted in particularly 

strong demand in the markets of the Far East, which penalised the European market.

- Available storage capacity for shippers at 30 June 2013 was approximately 11.4 billion cubic 

metres, an increase of 0.7 billion cubic metres (+6.5%) compared with 30 June 2012. The rise is 

due mainly to the capacity made available in connection with the reduction in strategic storage 

and to investments in upgrades and development at the Fiume Treste and Minerbio concessions.

- As at 30 June 2013, the number of active meters located at end-user gas redelivery points stood 

at 5.915 million units (5.907 million units at 30 June 2012).

  

Completion of TIGF acquisition 

Following an agreement signed on 5 April 2013 with Total, on 30 July 2013 TIGF Holding, shared 

by Snam (45%), Singapore sovereign wealth fund GIC (35%) and EDF (20%, through its fund 

dedicated to the liabilities arising from the dismantling of nuclear reactors), acquired (through 

TIGF Investissements, a wholly owned subsidiary of TIGF Holding) the entire share capital of TIGF, 

a company that is active in the transportation and storage of gas in the south-west of France, for a 

total enterprise value of around €2.4 billion.

Renewal of the Euro Medium Term Notes (EMTN) programme

On 11 June 2013, the Board of Directors of Snam resolved to renew the EMTN programme for 

a maximum value of €10 billion1. As at 30 June 2013, bonds had been issued for a total of €7.5 

billion, including bonds worth €1.5 billion issued on 10 April 2013. The renewal of the programme 

will enable the Company to issue bonds worth up to €2.5 billion by 30 June 2014, to be placed with 

institutional investors operating in Europe.

Renegotiation of bank loans

During the first half of 2013, with a view to optimising its financial structure, Snam signed a series of 

new agreements with its creditor banks aimed at negotiating new and improved conditions for the 

syndicated loan (for revolving credit lines worth a total of €3.5 billion) and bilateral loans (worth a 

total of €1.6 billion) taken out in 2012.

With regard to the syndicated loan taken out in July 2012, in April the Company repaid the €1.5 

billion term loan using the proceeds of the bond issues it carried out in the same month for the 

same amount.

1 On 4 June 2012, the Board of Directors resolved to issue bonds worth a total of up to €8 billion, to be issued in one or more 
tranches by 4 June 2013.
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KEY FIGURES

To improve the economic and financial review, in addition to conventional IAS/IFRS indicators and financial statements, the 

interim directors’ report also contains reclassified financial statements and several alternative performance indicators including, 

in particular, EBITDA, EBIT, net profit in the adjusted configuration and net financial debt. The following tables, the explanatory 

notes thereto and the reclassified financial statements report these amounts; see the glossary for a definition of the terms 

used, where these are not specified.

KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

3,730 Core business revenue 1,791 1,839 48 2.7

3,405 Core business revenue net of the effects of IFRIC 12 1,644 1,709 65 4.0

1,129 Operating costs 505 509 4 0.8

804 Operating costs net of the effects of IFRIC 12 358 379 21 5.9

2,817 EBITDA 1,358 1,396 38 2.8

2,111 EBIT 1,013 1,020 7 0.7

779 Net profit (a) 508 462 (46) (9.1)

992 Adjusted net profit (a) (b) 508 462 (46) (9.1)

(a) Net profit is attributable to Snam.
(b)  Adjusted net profit for 2012 excludes the financial expense arising from the early extinguishment of 12 interest rate swaps (-€213 million, net of tax effect) between Snam and its 

subsidiaries and eni.

KEY BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOW FIGURES  

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

1,300 Investments 524 490 (34) (6.5)

18,314 Net invested capital at period end (*) 17,528 18,426 898 5.1

5,916 Shareholders’ equity including minority interests at period end (*) 5,794 5,866 72 1.2

5,915 Shareholders’ equity attributable to the Group at period end (*) 5,793 5,865 72 1.2

12,398 Net financial debt at period end 11,734 12,560 826 7.0

(390) Free cash flow (64) 342 406  

(*)  The 2012 figures were restated following the retrospective application of the new provisions of IAS 19. 

KEY SHARE FIGURES  

Financial year First half 

2012  2012 2013 Change % change 

3,381.6 Number of shares in share capital                                      (millions) 3,571.2 3,381.6 (189.6) (5.3)

3,378.7 Number of shares outstanding at the end of the period     (millions) 3,378.6 3,379.7 1.1  

3,378.7 Average number of shares outstanding during the period   (millions) 3,378.6 3,379.1 0.5  

3.52 Official share price at period end                                             (€) 3.52 3.48 (0.04) (1.1)

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Key figures
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KEY PROFIT INDICATORS (a) 

Financial 
year First half 

2012  (€) 2012 2013 Change % change 

0.625 EBIT per share                                                0.300 0.302 0.002 0.7

0.231 Net profit per share                                                      0.150 0.137 (0.013) (8.7)

0.294 Adjusted net profit per share                                       0.150 0.137 (0.013) (8.7)

(a) Calculated based on the average number of shares in issue during the period.  

KEY OPERATING FIGURES  (a)

Financial year First half 

2012  2012 2013 Change % change 

 Natural gas transportation (b)     

75.78
Natural gas injected into the national gas transportation network 
(billions of cubic metres) (c) 40.85 34.49 (6.36) (15.6)

32,245 Transportation network (kilometres in use) 32,108 32,229 121 0.4

864.1 Installed power at compression stations (megawatts) 864.1 866.9 2.8 0.3

 liquefied natural gas (lNG) regasification (b)     

1.12 LNG regasification (billions of cubic metres) 0.79 0.05 (0.74) (93.7)

 Natural gas storage (b)     

10.7 Available storage capacity (billions of cubic metres) (d) 10.7 11.4 0.7 6.5

15.63 Natural gas moved through the storage system (billions of cubic metres) 9.67 11.24 1.57 16.2

 Natural gas distribution     

5.907 Active meters (millions) 5.907 5.915 0.008 0.1

1,435 Gas distribution concessions (number) 1,449 1,435 (14) (1.0)

52,586 Distribution network (kilometres) (e) 52,632 52,677 45 0.1

6,051 Employees in service at period end (number) (f) 6,056 6,021 (35) (0.6)

 by business segment:     

1,978 - Transportation 1,979 1,949 (30) (1.5)

78 - Regasification 75 77 2 2.7

307 - Storage 295 299 4 1.4

3,016 - Distribution 3,037 3,003 (34) (1.1)

672 - Corporate 670 693 23 3.4

(a) The changes indicated in the table, as well as those below in this report, must be considered changes from the first half of 2012 to the first half of 2013. Percentage changes, unless otherwise 
specified, are calculated in relation to the data indicated in the related tables.

(b)  Gas volumes are expressed in standard cubic metres (SCM) with an average higher heating value (HHV) of 38.1 and 39.3 MJ/SCM respectively for the businesses of natural gas transportation 
and regasification and natural gas storage.

(c)  The figures for the first half of 2013 are updated to 2 July 2013. The figures for the first half of 2012 and for the full year 2012 are in line with those published in the national gas 
transportation network report.

(d)  Working gas capacity for modulation, mining and balancing services. The available capacity at 30 June 2013 is that declared to the Electricity and Gas Authority at the start of the thermal 
year 2013-2014, in compliance with Resolution ARG/gas 119/10. The 2012 figures relate to the available and transferable capacity declared to the Electricity and Gas Authority for the 
thermal year 2012-2013. 

(e)  This figure refers to the kilometres of network managed by Italgas. 
(f)  Fully consolidated companies.

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Key figures
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COMPARISON BETWEEN SNAM STOCK, THE FTSE MIB AND THE EURO STOXX 600 UTILITIES 
(1 January 2013 – 30 June 2013)
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NATURAl GAS TRANSPORTATION

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

1,916 Core business revenue (*) 961 990 29 3.0

1,902 - of which natural gas transportation revenue 954 983 29 3.0

478 Operating costs (*) 198 213 15 7.6

1,135 EBIT 589 593 4 0.7

700 Investments 301 239 (62) (20.6)

557 - of which with incentives 253 185 (68) (26.9)

143 - of which without incentives 48 54 6 12.5

75.78
Natural gas injected in the national gas transportation network 
(billions of cubic metres) 40.85 34.49 (6.36) (15.6)

32,245 Transportation network (kilometres in use) 32,108 32,229 121 0.4

9,277 - of which national network 9,158 9,409 251 2.7

22,968 - of which regional network 22,950 22,820 (130) (0.6)

(*)  Before consolidation adjustments. 

Results

Revenue from natural gas transportation totalled €983 million, up by €29 million (3.0%) compared 

with the first half of 2012. This increase was due mainly to the contribution of investments made in 

2011 (+€50 million), the effects of which were partly offset by lower volumes of natural gas transported 

(-€20 million) and by tariff updating (-€10 million). Higher revenue from components offset in costs 

(+€11 million) also contributed to the increase in transportation revenue.

EBIT2  for the first half of 2013 totalled €593 million, an increase of €4 million, or 0.7%, compared with 

the same period of the previous year. Higher transportation revenue (+€18 million, net of components 

offset in costs) was partly offset by the increase in amortisation and depreciation (-€11 million), due 

essentially to the entry into service of new infrastructure.

2 EBIT is analysed by considering only those components that have changed it, since the application of the gas sector tariff rules 
generates revenue and cost items that offset each other: modulation, interconnection and balancing. Specifically, revenue from the 
balancing business (€51 million in the first half of 2013; €46 million in the first half of 2012) relates to sales of natural gas made 
for the purposes of balancing the gas network and is matched to operating costs linked to withdrawals from the gas storage system. 
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Operating review

INVESTMENTS 

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

426 Development 202 126 (76) (37.6)

340 Investments with a 3% incentive 160 87 (73) (45.6)

86 Investments with a 2% incentive 42 39 (3) (7.1)

      

274 Maintenance and other 99 113 14 14.1

131 Investments with a 1% incentive 51 59 8 15.7

143 Investments with no incentives 48 54 6 12.5

700  301 239 (62) (20.6)

Investments in the first half of 2013 amounted to €239 million, down €62 million, or 20.6%, 

compared with the first half of 2012.

Investments were classified in accordance with Resolution ARG/gas 184/09 of the Electricity and Gas 

Authority, which identified various categories of projects with different incentive levels.

A total of 77% of investments are expected to benefit from incentive-based returns. The breakdown 

of investments by category for 2012 and 2013 will be submitted to the Authority when it approves 

the tariff proposals for 2014 and 2015, and may differ from the breakdown in the current regulatory 

period, which ends on 31 December 2013. 

The main investments with a 3% incentive (€87 million) were:

- continuation of material delivery and construction work on the Zimella-Cervignano natural gas 

pipeline from Veneto to Lombardy as part of the project to upgrade national transportation 

infrastructure in the Po Valley (€44 million); continuation of construction work on the Poggio 

Renatico-Cremona natural gas pipeline from Emilia-Romagna to Lombardy;

- delivery of materials and continuation of renovation work at the Enna station in Sicily as part of 

the project to upgrade import infrastructure in the south of Italy (€21 million);

- continuation of additional work on the main line and material delivery for connection points for 

the Massafra-Biccari natural gas pipeline from Puglia to Basilicata as part of the new transportation 

infrastructure project on the Adriatic coast (€8 million);

- continuation of planning works and some material delivery for facilities for the Cervignano-Mortara 

natural gas pipeline in Lombardy as part of the Northern Exports programme (€6 million). 

The main investments with a 2% incentive (€39 million) relate to a number of works to upgrade the 

regional and national network and to connect to new redelivery points, including:

- continuation of construction work on natural gas pipelines and associated connections as part of 

the natural gas conversion project in Calabria (€7 million);

- continuation of construction work on the Derivazione per Sapri natural gas pipeline in Campania 

(€3 million);

- continuation of construction work on the Monsummano-Lamporecchio natural gas pipeline in 

Tuscany (€2 million).
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NATURAL GAS INJECTED INTO THE GAS TRANSPORTATION NETWORK 3  

Financial year First half 

2012 (*) (billions of cubic metres) 2012(*) 2013 Change % change 

8.17 Domestic output 4.08 3.74 (0.34) (8.3)

67.61 Imports (entry points) 36.77 30.75 (6.02) (16.4)

23.85 Tarvisio 11.58 15.09 3.51 30.3

20.82 Mazara del Vallo 12.42 7.51 (4.91) (39.5)

6.47 Gela 3.17 3.04 (0.13) (4.1)

6.17 Cavarzere (LNG) 3.41 2.91 (0.50) (14.7)

9.03 Gries Pass 5.29 2.15 (3.14) (59.4)

1.12 Panigaglia (LNG) 0.79 0.05 (0.74) (93.7)

0.15 Gorizia 0.11 (0.11) (100.0)

75.78  40.85 34.49 (6.36) (15.6)

(*)  The figures for 2012 have been aligned with those published in the national gas transportation network financial statements.

3 Gas volumes are expressed in standard cubic metres (SCM) with a traditional higher heating value (HHV) of 38.1 MJ/SCM. 
The basic figure is measured in energy (MJ) and obtained by multiplying the physical cubic metres actually measured by 
the relative heating value.

The amount of natural gas injected into the national gas transportation network in the first 

half of 2013 was 34.49 billion cubic metres, down by 6.36 billion cubic metres, or 15.6%, compared 

with the first half of 2012. This decrease was due to lower demand for natural gas in Italy (-6.8%), 

mainly reflecting lower consumption in the thermoelectric sector (-21.0%) as a result of the fall in 

the demand for electricity and the contribution made by renewable sources, which was partly offset 

by higher consumption in the residential and tertiary sector (+1.3%). The decrease was also caused 

by considerably higher net withdrawals from storage (-3.51 billion cubic metres) than in the first 

half of 2012 (-0.19 billion cubic metres).

Natural gas injected into the national network from domestic production fields or their collection 

and treatment centres was 3.74 billion cubic metres, down by 0.34 billion cubic metres (8.3%) 

compared with the first half of 2012.

The main investments with a 1% incentive (€59 million) involved projects aimed at maintaining 

adequate safety and quality levels at the stations, including:

- the supply of turbocompressors for the project to replace the TC1-2-3 unit and transform the TC4 

turbine at the Messina station in Sicily (€14 million);

- compensation for third parties (€10 million), including interference in relation to the Tangenziale Est 

Esterna Milano road project (€2 million), the BreBeMi motorway (€1 million) and the Pedemontana 

motorway (€1 million).

The investments with no incentives (€54 million) include plant and asset replacement programmes 

as well as projects to develop new IT systems and implement existing ones (€10 million), and to acquire 

other core operating assets such as real estate (€9 million).

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Natural gas transportation14
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Imports by entry point, which saw a reduction of 6.02 billion cubic metres (16.4%) compared with 

the first half of 2012, show lower volumes imported at the entry points of Mazara del Vallo (-4.91 

billion cubic metres; -39.5%) and Gries Pass (-3.14 billion cubic metres; -59.4%), following the fall 

in gas imports from Algeria and northern Europe respectively, and from the Panigaglia and Cavarzere 

regasification terminals (-0.74 and -0.50 billion cubic metres respectively), against an increase in 

imports through the entry point of Tarvisio (+3.51 billion cubic metres; +30.3%) as a result of higher 

gas imports from Russia.

Balancing service

Exploratory investigation into gas balancing service provision methods.

With Resolution 282/2012/R/gas, published on 6 July 2012, the Electricity and Gas Authority 

began an explorative investigation into the methods of provision of the balancing service between 

1 December 2011 and 31 May 2012, due for completion within 120 days of the start of the 

investigation. With Resolution 444/2012/R/gas, the Authority extended this period to 23 October 

2012 and extended the investigation by 60 days.

With Resolution 144/2013/E/gas, published on 18 April 2013, the Authority provided for the closure 

of the explorative investigation into the methods of provision of the balancing service between 1 

December 2011 and 23 October 2012, which had been begun with Resolution 282/2012/R/gas, and 

based on the report appended to it, began a procedure to determine the share of costs arising from 

outstanding receivables owing to the Balancing Supervisor for the period 1 December 2011 - 23 

October 20124 (Resolution 145/2013/R/gas of 5 April 2013).

The duration of this procedure has been set at 180 days.

Provisions on the management of withdrawals by the Electricity Equalisation Fund concerning fees 

for the gas balancing service.

With Resolution 258/2013/R/gas, published on 3 July 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority, 

pending the determination of the share of costs owing to Snam Rete Gas as part of the procedure 

launched with Resolution 145/2013/R/gas, suspended the monthly withdrawal by the Electricity 

Equalisation Fund, provided for by point 2 of Resolution 351/2012/R/gas, up to the amount of the 

payments already made for the subsequent period until 31 May 2012, with regard to the uncollected 

income statement items for balancing pertaining to a shipper.

Since the Company repaid the amount relating to the aforementioned income statement items to 

the Electricity Equalisation Fund on 28 June 2013, Resolution 258/2013/R/gas did not have any 

impact on the cash flows paid out by the Fund.

Regulation 

Consultation document 164/2013/R/gas – “Criteria for the determination of the tariffs for natural 

gas transportation and dispatching activities for the fourth regulatory period.”

On 22 April 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority published its first consultation document relating 

to the criteria for determining tariffs for gas transportation and dispatching services for the fourth 

regulatory period, which will run from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2017. 

4 More information about the receivables arising from the balancing service can be found in Note 4 to the condensed interim 
consolidated financial statements, “Trade receivables and other receivables”.

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Natural gas transportation
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Preliminary certification of Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. as natural gas transportation system operator 

under the ownership unbundling regime.

With Resolution 266/2013/R/gas, published on 21 June 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority resolved 

to adopt the preliminary decision to certify Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. as a transportation system operator 

under the ownership unbundling regime, pursuant to Article 9, paragraph 1, of Directive 2009/73/EC 

and Article 19 of Legislative Decree 93/11, on condition that the Company must:

- based on operational suitability assessments carried out by the Company, transfer the 

management of non-proprietary networks to third parties or acquire such networks, and inform 

the Authority of such transfer or acquisition in a timely manner, by 24 September 2013;

- immediately inform the Authority of any change in the conditions required for the issuance of 

the preliminary-certification decision, particularly with regard to the control of the Company by 

Cassa Depositi e Prestiti and the equity investments held by the latter in the electricity or gas 

production or sale sectors.

Consultation document 330/2013/R/gas – “Criteria for the determination of the tariffs for 

natural gas transportation and dispatching activities for the fourth regulatory period - Criteria for 

determining tariffs.”

On 26 July 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority published its second consultation document 

relating to the criteria for determining tariffs for gas transportation and dispatching services for the 

fourth regulatory period, which will run from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2017. The final order 

should be approved by the end of October.
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lIqUEFIED NATURAl GAS (lNG) REGASIFICATION

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

34 Core business revenue (*) (**) 17 16 (1) (5.9)

23 - of which LNG regasification revenue 11 12 1 9.1

25 Operating costs (**) 14 11 (3) (21.4)

5 EBIT 2 3 1 50.0

3 Investments  1 1  

1.12 Volumes of LNG regasified (billions of cubic metres) 0.79 0.05 (0.74) (93.7)

31 Tanker loads (number) 23 1 (22) (95.7)

(*)  Core business revenue includes the recharging to users of expenses relating to natural gas transportation services provided by Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. For the purposes of the consolidated 
financial statements, this revenue is eliminated, together with transportation costs, within GNL Italia S.p.A. in order to represent the substance of the operation.

(**) Before consolidation adjustments.

Results 

Revenue from lNG regasification amounted to €12 million, up by €1 million, or 9.1%, compared 

with the first half of 2012, and related essentially to capacity fees5.

EBIT stood at €3 million, an increase of €1 million (50.0%) compared with the first half of 2012, due 

essentially to higher revenue from regasification (+€1 million).

Operating review

Volumes of LNG regasified

During the first half of 2013, the LNG terminal at Panigaglia (SP) regasified 0.05 billion cubic metres 

of natural gas (0.79 billion cubic metres in the first half of 2012), unloading 1 methane tanker (23 in 

the first half of 2012).

The reduction in volumes regasified was due to the global trend in demand for LNG, which resulted in 

particularly strong demand in the markets of the Far East, to the detriment of the European market.

Regulation 

Consultation document 237/2013/R/gas - “Criteria for the determination of the tariffs for the LNG 

regasification service for the fourth regulatory period”

On 30 May 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority published a consultation document relating to the 

criteria for the determination of the tariffs for the LNG regasification service for the fourth regulatory 

period, which will run from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2017. The final order relating to the tariff 

criteria for the aforementioned regulatory period is expected to be published by November 2013.

5 Capacity fees include revenue related to the regasification commitment for an annual volume of LNG and a share of revenue 
related to the activity of docking and unloading methane tankers.  
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NATURAl GAS STORAGE

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

401 Core business revenue (*) (**) 220 252 32 14.5

401 - of which natural gas storage revenue 220 240 20 9.1

69 Operating costs (**) 30 46 16 53.3

270 EBIT 159 173 14 8.8

233 Investments 63 105 42 66.7

10 Concessions (number) 10 10   

8  - of which operational (***) 8 8   

15.63 Natural gas moved through the storage system (billions of cubic metres) 9.67 11.24 1.57 16.2

8.43 - of which injected 4.74 3.88 (0.86) (18.1)

7.20 - of which withdrawn 4.93 7.36 2.43 49.3

10.7 Available storage capacity (billions of cubic metres) (****) 10.7 11.4 0.70 6.5

(*)  As of 1 April 2013, pursuant to Resolution 297/2012/R/gas of 19 July 2012, core business revenue includes the recharging to storage users of the costs relating to the natural gas 
transportation service provided by Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, this revenue is eliminated, together with transportation costs, within 
Stogit S.p.A. in order to represent the substance of the operation.

(**) Before consolidation adjustments.
(***) Working gas capacity for modulation services.
(****) Working gas capacity for modulation, mining and balancing services. The figure indicated represents the maximum available capacity that can be allocated and may not be in line with the 

maximum filling. 

Results

Revenue from natural gas storage totalled €240 million6, up €20 million (+9.1%) compared with 

the first half of 2012. The increase was due to the investments made in 2011 (+€22 million). Revenue 

from storage refers to modulation storage (€206 million, +12.6%) and strategic storage (€32 million, 

+3.2%).

EBIT amounted to €173 million, up by €14 million (8.8%) compared with the first half of 2012. 

This increase was due primarily to higher revenue from storage (+€19 million, net of revenue offset 

in costs), which was partly offset by the increase in operating costs (-€3 million net of components 

offset in revenue) and by higher amortisation and depreciation for the period (-€2 million).

6 Including payments totalling €2 million received from Eni in addition to storage revenue for the thermal year from 1 April 
2012 - 31 March 2013 (€5 million for the thermal year from 1 April 2011 - 31 March 2012) in respect of the contractual 
agreements signed by Eni and Stogit relating to activities connected to Legislative Decree 130/2010, “Measures for greater 
competition in the natural gas market and the transfer of resulting benefits to end customers, pursuant to Article 30, paragraphs 
6 and 7 of Law 99 of 23 July 2009”. 
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Operating review 

INVESTMENTS  

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

95 Development of new fields (4% incentive over 16 years) 27 62 35  

99 Upgrading of capacity (4% incentive over eight years) 27 30 3 11.1

39 Maintenance and other 9 13 4 44.4

233  63 105 42 66.7

Investments in the first half of 2013 amounted to €105 million, down €42 million, or 67%, compared 

with the first half of 2012.

Investments were classified in accordance with Resolution ARG/gas 119/10 of the Electricity and Gas 

Authority, which identified various categories of projects with different incentive levels.

A total of 88% of these investments are expected to benefit from incentive-based returns. The 

breakdown of investments by category for 2012 and 2013 will be submitted to the Authority when it 

approves the tariff proposals for 2014 and 2015 respectively, and, for the 2013 investments, may differ 

from the breakdown in the current regulatory period, which ends on 31 December 2014.

Investments with a 4% incentive over 16 years (€62 million) relate to development activities 

in progress at the Bordolano and Fiume Treste storage fields, mainly for drilling, the acquisition of 

materials and the execution of work on the plants.

Investments with a 4% incentive over eight years (€30 million) refer to drilling and repowering 

activities, primarily at the Fiume Treste, Sabbioncello, Minerbio and Settala storage fields.

Natural gas moved through the storage system

A total of 11.24 billion cubic metres of natural gas was moved through the storage system in the 

first half of 2013, up by 1.57 billion cubic metres (16.2%) compared with the corresponding period 

of 2012. This increase was due mainly to higher withdrawals from storage (2.43 billion cubic metres; 

+49.3%) as a result of the colder weather in March and April 2013 compared with the first half of 

2012. The increase was partly offset by the reduction in injections for the period (-0.86 billion cubic 

metres; -18.1%).

Total storage capacity at 30 June 2013, including strategic storage, was 15.9 billion cubic metres (+0.2 

billion cubic metres; +1.3%), of which 9.7 billion cubic metres related to available capacity allocated 

(10.7 billion cubic metres in thermal year 2012-2013), 1.7 billion cubic metres related to available 

capacity not yet allocated, and 4.5 billion cubic metres related to strategic storage (unchanged 

compared with thermal year 2012-2013).
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Withdrawals of strategic gas reserves from storage in 2010-2011  

Resolution 91/2013/S/gas - “Proceedings for the adoption of prescriptive measures against Speia 

S.p.A. and Stogit S.p.A. in relation to possible anomalies in the management of withdrawals of strategic 

gas reserves.” 

With this resolution, published on 7 March 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority initiated proceedings 

for the adoption of prescriptive measures against Speia S.p.A. and Stogit S.p.A. in relation to possible 

anomalies in the management of withdrawals of strategic gas reserves in the 2010-2011 thermal year 

for storage.

The proceedings in question began with the survey that was launched with Resolutions 282/2012/R/

gas and 444/2012/R/gas, relating to anomalies recorded on the balancing market during the period 

from 1 December 2011 to 23 October 2012. The purpose of the proceedings is to ascertain the facts 

concerning withdrawals of strategic gas from storage made by Speia during the 2010-2011 thermal 

year for storage and for the Authority to adopt prescriptive measures to protect one company or the 

other under combined sanctions, in derogation of the regulations in force and in order to avoid irregular 

expense and consequences for end customers. The above is without prejudice to the Authority’s right 

to intervene, pending the completion of the procedure, by means of protective precautionary measures 

in relation to any qualifying legal situations that may arise as part of the investigation. The duration of 

the investigation has been set at 120 days, starting from the date of notification of the resolution. The 

final order must be adopted within 45 days of the notification of the investigation results7.

On 20 May 2013, Stogit appeared before the body in charge of the proceeding for a hearing. 

Regulation and other provisions 

Ministerial Decree of 15 February 2013 – “Determination of modulation storage capacity and of the 

methods of distributing and allocating storage capacity (OJ No 55 of 6 March 2013).”

With this decree, the Ministry of Economic Development determined the modulation storage capacity 

for the thermal year 2013-2014 to be around 6.7 billion cubic metres, to be allocated to civilian 

customers, prioritised according to supply requirements. The Ministerial Decree also defined the 

criteria for allocating storage capacity, stipulating that a share of the modulation service capacity (2.5 

billion cubic metres) and an additional capacity of 1.7 billion cubic metres should be allocated via 

auction. Lastly, it established the procedures for withdrawing natural gas from the storage system in 

order to ensure the secure functioning of the natural gas system.

Ministerial Decree of 15 February 2013 – “Storage associated with the regasification and supply of 

liquefied natural gas for businesses (OJ No 59 of 11 March 2013).” 

With this decree, the Ministry of Economic Development stipulated that a storage capacity of 450 

million cubic metres of natural gas be allocated to industrial business and related consortia to provide 

them with a direct supply of LNG from abroad, and that a storage capacity of 50 million cubic metres 

of natural gas be allocated to regasification users to guarantee the regasification programme should 

an unforeseeable event occur. 

The Ministerial Decree also defined the procedures for allocation and withdrawal of natural gas in 

relation to the storage capacity allocated to regasification users or to industrial businesses and related 

consortia that intend to obtain LNG supplies directly from abroad.

7 More information about the receivables arising from withdrawals of strategic gas reserves can be found in Note 4 to the 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements, “Trade receivables and other receivables”.   
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Resolution 92/2013/R/gas – “Provisions for the allocation of storage capacity for the 2013-2014 

thermal year for storage.”

With this resolution, published on 5 March 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority defined how the 

auction procedure would be organised and how storage capacity would be allocated for the 2013-

2014 thermal year, pursuant to the decree issued by the Minister of Economic Development on 15 

February 2013 (“Determination of modulation storage capacity and of the methods of distributing 

and allocating storage capacity”).

The Authority postponed, to be dealt with under subsequent measures, provisions for amending the 

time frames for settlement in order to ensure that storage companies have a revenue flow equivalent 

to that received under the settlement criteria applicable prior to the provisions introduced by the 

resolution in question, including in the event that the capacity allocation price is lower than the fees 

approved by the Authority.

Resolution 121/2013/R/gas – “Urgent provisions on settlement relating to storage services for the 

2013-2014 thermal year.” 

With this resolution, published on 29 March 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority set out the 

provisions on settlement relating to storage services for the 2013-2014 thermal year in order to 

mitigate the possible financial impact for storage companies in the event that, due to the provisions 

of Resolution 92/2013/R/gas, the storage capacity allocation price is different from the fees approved 

by the Authority.

Resolution 310/2013/R/gas – “Provisions for the allocation of storage capacity for the 2013-2014 

thermal year for storage.”

With this resolution, published on 15 July 2013, in order to incentivise the replenishment of storage 

capacity before the end of the injection phase of the 2013-2014 thermal year, the Electricity and Gas 

Authority set out the procedures for allocating any remaining storage capacity in accordance with 

the criteria established by Resolution 92/2013/R/gas for the uniform storage service, setting a reserve 

price of zero. 

The resolution also provided for Stogit to offer said capacity for interim storage services, providing for 

the injection capacity to be available until the end of the injection phase, the withdrawal capacity to 

be limited to the central period of the withdrawal phase, and the fees to cover transportation costs to 

be applied only to the period of availability of the services provided.
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NATURAl GAS DISTRIBUTION

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

1,434 Core business revenue (*) 619 624 5 0.8

1,398 - of which natural gas distribution revenue 601 604 3 0.5

1,109 Core business revenue net of the effects of IFRIC 12 472 494 22 4.7

1,073 - of which natural gas distribution revenue 454 474 20 4.4

698 Operating costs (*) 296 284 (12) (4.1)

373 Operating costs net of the effects of IFRIC 12 149 154 5 3.4

626 EBIT 259 252 (7) (2.7)

359 Investments 157 143 (14) (8.9)

7,462 Gas distribution (millions of cubic metres) 4,547 4,480 (67) (1.5)

52,586 Distribution network (**) (kilometres) 52,632 52,677 45 0.1

5.907 Active meters (millions) 5.907 5.915 0.008 0.1

(*)  Before consolidation adjustments.
(**) This figure refers to the kilometres of network operated by Italgas.

Results

Natural gas distribution revenue totalled €604 million in the first half of 2013, up slightly (+€3 

million; +0.5%) on the same period in the previous year. Excluding the effects of applying IFRIC 12, 

distribution revenue rose by €20 million (4.4%), due mainly to tariff updating mechanisms.

EBIT totalled €252 million in the first half of 2013, down by €7 million (2.7%) year on year. Higher 

revenue from natural gas distribution services (+€20 million) was more than offset by higher 

amortisation and depreciation for the period (-€18 million) and higher operating costs (-€5 million). 

The increase in amortisation and depreciation was due in particular to the entry into service of new 

infrastructure and to the effects of amortising the costs incurred for the award of the concession 

for Rome, where Italgas no longer owns the assets but is licensed to use them (-€12 million). These 

costs, net of the reimbursement as determined by the agreement with the Municipality of Rome, are 

amortised over the duration of the concession (12 years).

Operating review

INVESTMENTS   

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

246 Distribution 109 93 (16) (14.7)

196 Network maintenance and development 85 73 (12) (14.1)

50 Replacement of cast-iron pipes (2% incentive) 24 20 (4) (16.7)

79 Metering (8% remuneration) 38 37 (1) (2.6)

34 Other investments 10 13 3 30.0

359  157 143 (14) (8.9)
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Investments in the first half of 2013 amounted to €143 million, down by €14 million (8.9%), 

compared with the first half of 2012.

Investments in distribution (€93 million) mainly involved development projects (extensions and 

new networks) and the renovation of old sections of pipe, including the replacement of cast-iron pipes.

Investments in metering (€37 million) primarily concerned the meter replacement programme and 

the remote meter-reading project.

Other investments (€13 million) mainly concerned investments in IT, property and vehicles.

Distribution network

At 30 June 2013, the gas distribution network covered 52,677 kilometres (52,586 kilometres at 

31 December 2012). The increase of 91 kilometres compared with the end of 2012 is due to the 

construction of new networks, specifically in Calabria, and to the extension of networks for concession 

commitments.

Gas distribution 

In the first half of 2013, 4,480 million cubic metres of gas were distributed, a decrease of 67 million 

cubic metres (1.5%) compared with the same period in 2012.

At 30 June 2013, Snam held a gas distribution concession in 1,435 municipalities (unchanged 

from 31 December 2012), of which 1,337 with operational networks and 98 with networks to be 

completed and/or constructed. At 30 June 2013, the number of active meters located at end-user 

gas redelivery points (households, businesses, etc.) stood at 5.915 million (5.907 million at 30 June 

2012). The increase from new connections was partly offset by the effects of tendering concessions 

for municipalities previously managed by Italgas to third parties.

Isontina Reti Gas S.p.A. and framework agreement with Acegas-Aps S.p.A.

On 17 April 2013, the Italian Competition Authority (AGCM) banned the acquisition of 50% of the 

equity of Isontina Reti Gas S.p.A. (IRG) and the subsequent transfer to said company of some business 

units of Italgas and Acegas-Aps on the grounds that it would give IRG a dominant position.

On 13 June 2013, Italgas filed an appeal against this ruling at the Regional Administrative Court of Lazio.

Regulation

Consultation document 257/2013/R/gas - “Tariffs for gas metering and distribution services and 

equalisation mechanisms for the fourth regulatory period”

On 14 June 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority published its third consultation document8 on 

the criteria for determining gas metering and distribution tariffs for the fourth regulatory period. 

The final measure approving the tariff regulation for the fourth period is scheduled for adoption by 

October 2013.

8 First come consultation document 341/2012/R/gas, providing a general framework and outlining the main areas of 
intervention, and document 56/2013/R/gas, containing the first guidelines on determining the cost of setting gas metering 
and distribution tariffs.
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FINANCIAl REvIEW

INCOME STATEMENT

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

3,730 Core business revenue 1,791 1,839 48 2.7

216 Other revenue and income 72 66 (6) (8.3)

3,946 Total revenue 1,863 1,905 42 2.3

3,621 Total revenue net of the effects of IFRIC 12 (*) 1,716 1,775 59 3.4

(1,129) Operating costs (505) (509) (4) 0.8

(804) Operating costs net of the effects of IFRIC 12 (*) (358) (379) (21) 5.9

2,817 EBITDA 1,358 1,396 38 2.8

(706) Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses (345) (376) (31) 9.0

2,111 EBIT 1,013 1,020 7 0.7

(794) Net financial expense (167) (262) (95) 56.9

55 Income (expense) from equity investments 24 35 11 45.8

1,372 Profit before taxes 870 793 (77) (8.9)

(593) Income taxes (362) (331) 31 (8.6)

779 Net profit (**) 508 462 (46) (9.1)

992 Adjusted net profit (**) 508 462 (46) (9.1)

(*)  The application of international accounting standard IFRIC 12 “Service concession arrangements”, in force from 1 January 2010, has not had any effect on the consolidated results, except for 
the recording, in equal measure, of revenue and costs related to the construction and upgrading of distribution infrastructure (€147 million and €130 million, respectively, in the first half 
of 2012 and the first half of 2013).

(**)  Net profit is attributable to Snam.

Net profit

Net profit totalled €462 million in the first half of 2013, down by €46 million (9.1%) compared with the 

first half of 2012. The reduction is due essentially to higher net financial expense (-€95 million). Excluding 

the effects of the early extinguishment of a €1.5 billion term loan taken out by Snam in July 2012 as part 

of its debt refinancing operation, net financial expense rose by €64 million. The increase was due to a 

higher average cost of debt and to higher average debt during the period. These factors were partly offset 

by lower income taxes (+€31 million), due mainly to lower pre-tax profits, by higher income from equity 

investments (+€11 million) and by higher EBIT (+€7 million).
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Analysis of income statement items

TOTAL REVENUE 

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

3,730 Core business revenue 1,791 1,839 48 2.7

 Business segments     

1,916 Transportation 961 990 29 3.0

34 Regasification 17 16 (1) (5.9)

401 Storage (*) 220 252 32 14.5

1,434 Distribution 619 624 5 0.8

325 - of which effects of IFRIC 12 147 130 (17) (11.6)

184 Corporate 80 80   

(239) Consolidation adjustments (106) (123) (17) 16.0

216 Other revenue and income 72 66 (6) (8.3)

3,946 Total revenue 1,863 1,905 42 2.3

(*)  As of 1 April 2013, core business revenue in the storage segment includes the recharging of the transportation service provided by Snam Rete Gas pursuant to Resolution 297/2012/R/gas of 
the Electricity and Gas Authority of 19 July 2012. Revenue from this recharging is offset in operating costs related to the purchase of transportation capacity provided by Snam Rete Gas.

TOTAL REVENUE - REGULATED AND NON-REGULATED ACTIVITIES 

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

3,802 Revenue from regulated activities 1,833 1,885 52 2.8

1,946 Transportation 1,000 1,033 33 3.3

23 Regasification 11 12 1 9.1

353 Storage 195 212 17 8.7

1,480 Distribution (*) 627 628 1 0.2

325 - of which effects of IFRIC 12 147 130 (17) (11.6)

144 Revenue from non-regulated activities 30 20 (10) (33.3)

3,946  1,863 1,905 42 2.3

(*)  Revenue from regulated activities in the first half of 2013 includes capital gains on the sale of plants to municipalities granting distribution concessions. Accordingly, the corresponding values 
for the first half of 2012 have been reclassified from “Revenue from non-regulated activities”. 

Revenue from regulated activities (€1,885 million, net of consolidation adjustments) relates to 

transportation (€1,033 million9, distribution (€628 million; €498 million net of the effects of IFRIC 

12), storage (€212 million) and regasification (€12 million). 

Revenue from non-regulated activities (€20 million, net of consolidation adjustments) mainly 

comprises: (i) income from renting and maintaining fibre optic telecommunications cables (€6 

million); (ii) technical services relating mainly to distribution activities (€3 million); and (iii) income 

from property investments (€2 million).

9 This includes revenue from the balancing business, operational from 1 December 2011 pursuant to Resolution ARG/gas 45/11 
of the Electricity and Gas Authority. Revenue refers to sales of natural gas carried out for the purposes of balancing the gas 
system and corresponds to operating costs connected to withdrawals of gas from storage. 
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Operating costs (€509 million) increased by €4 million (0.8%) compared with the first half of 2012. 

Net of the effects of IFRIC 12 and of components that are offset in revenue, operating costs rose by 

€8 million (2.7%) compared with the first half of 2012, due mainly to higher concession fees in the 

distribution segment.

OPERATING COSTS

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

 Business segments     

478 Transportation 198 213 15 7.6

25 Regasification 14 11 (3) (21.4)

69 Storage (*) 30 46 16 53.3

698 Distribution 296 284 (12) (4.1)

325 - of which effects of IFRIC 12 147 130 (17) (11.6)

176 Corporate 75 80 5 6.7

(246) Consolidation eliminations (108) (125) (17) 15.7

(71) Consolidation adjustments     

1,129  505 509 4 0.8

(*)  As of 1 April 2013, operating costs in the storage segment include the costs associated with purchasing the transportation capacity provided by Snam Rete Gas pursuant to Resolution 
297/2012/R/gas of the Electricity and Gas Authority of 19 July 2012. 

OPERATING COSTS - REGULATED AND NON-REGULATED ACTIVITIES  

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

1,011 Regulated business costs 479 490 11 2.3

453 Controllable fixed costs 230 228 (2) (0.9)

48 Variable costs 54 63 9 16.7

510 Other costs 195 199 4 2.1

325 - of which effects of IFRIC 12 147 130 (17) (11.6)

118 Non-regulated business costs 26 19 (7) (26.9)

1,129  505 509 4 0.8

27Snam Interim Directors’ report / Financial review
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Financial year First half 

2012 (number) 2012 2013 Change % change 

 Business segments     

1,978 Transportation 1,979 1,949 (30) (1.5)

78 Regasification 75 77 2 2.7

307 Storage 295 299 4 1.4

3,016 Distribution 3,037 3,003 (34) (1.1)

672 Corporate 670 693 23 3.4

6,051  6,056 6,021 (35) (0.6)

Financial year First half 

2012 (number) 2012 2013 Change % change 

 Professional status     

115 Executives 115 113 (2) (1.7)

560 Managers 551 572 21 3.8

3,257 Office workers 3,250 3,247 (3) (0.1)

2,119 Manual workers 2,140 2,089 (51) (2.4)

6,051  6,056 6,021 (35) (0.6)

AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

702 Amortisation and depreciation 345 376 31 9.0

 Business segments     

449 Transportation 224 235 11 4.9

5 Regasification 2 2   

63 Storage 31 33 2 6.5

183 Distribution 87 105 18 20.7

2 Corporate 1 1   

4 Impairment losses (Reversals)     

706  345 376 31 9.0

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (€376 million) rose by €31 million compared 

with the first half of 2012. 

The increase in amortisation and depreciation was due to the entry into service of new infrastructure 

and to the effects of amortising the costs incurred for the award of the natural gas distribution 

concession for the Municipality of Rome, where Italgas no longer owns the assets but is licensed to 

use them (+€12 million). These costs, net of the reimbursement as determined by the agreement with 

the Municipality of Rome, are amortised over the duration of the concession (12 years).

The following table shows the workforce in service at 30 June 2013 (6,021 people) by business segment 

and professional status.
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EBIT

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

 Business segments     

1,135 Transportation 589 593 4 0.7

5 Regasification 2 3 1 50.0

270 Storage 159 173 14 8.8

626 Distribution 259 252 (7) (2.7)

6 Corporate 4 (1) (5)  

69 Consolidation adjustments     

2,111  1,013 1,020 7 0.7

EBIT amounted to €1,020 million in the first half of 2013, up by €7 million (0.7%) year on year. This 

increase is due mainly to higher revenue from regulated activities across all the main business segments 

(+€56 million, net of components that are offset in costs), offset partly by higher amortisation and 

depreciation (-€31 million) and to a lesser extent by higher operating costs (-€8 million, net of 

components that are offset in revenue).

EBIT reflects the strong performance of the storage segment (+€14 million; +8.8%) and an improved 

performance from the transportation segment (+€4 million; +0.7%), in spite of lower gas demand 

(-6.8%), as a result of weak economic conditions, and lower volumes injected into the network. This 

was offset by a decrease in the distribution segment (-€7 million; -2.7%), attributable mainly to 

higher depreciation and amortisation.

Analysis of EBIT by business segment is provided in the section “Trends in the segments of operation” 

in this report.

NET FINANCIAL EXPENSE

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

401 Expense on financial debt 134 265 131 97.8

401 - Expense on short- and long-term financial debt 134 265 131 97.8

404 Expense (income) on IRS contracts (*) 43  (43) (100.0)

27 Other net financial expense 7 14 7 100.0

11 - Accretion discount 7 7   

16 - Other net financial expense (income)  7 7  

(38) Financial expense capitalised (17) (17)   

794  167 262 95 56.9

(*)  The figure for 2012 includes financial expense arising from the early extinguishment of 12 IRS contracts (€335 million). 

Net financial expense (€262 million) increased by €95 million compared with the first half of 2012. 

Excluding the higher costs10 associated with the early extinguishment of a €1.5 billion term loan taken 

out by Snam in July 2012 as part of its debt refinancing, net financial expense rose by €64 million. 

10 These costs refer essentially to the release to the income statement of the up-front fees previously spread over the duration 
(expected life) of the financial instrument, using the amortised cost method pursuant to IAS 39.
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The increase was due to a higher average cost of debt and to higher average debt during the period. 

The extinguishment of the term loan followed the €1.5 billion bond issue carried out on 10 April 2013. 

Financial expense of €17 million was capitalised in the first half of 2013, unchanged from the first 

half of 2012.

INCOME FROM EqUITY INVESTMENTS

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

55 Equity method valuation effect 24 35 11 45.8

55  24 35 11 45.8

Income from equity investments (€35 million) refers to the share of net income for the period of 

investee companies valued at equity. Specifically, it refers to distribution associates Azienda Energia e 

Servizi Torino S.p.A. (€19 million; €15 million in the first half of 2012) and Toscana Energia S.p.A. (€11 

million; €8 million in the first half of 2012).

INCOME TAXES

Financial year First half 

2012 (€ million) 2012 2013 Change % change 

726 Current taxes 395 369 (26) (6.6)

 (Prepaid) deferred taxes     

(127) Deferred taxes (37) (36) 1 (2.7)

(6) Prepaid taxes 4 (2) (6)  

(133)  (33) (38) (5) 15.2

43.2 Tax rate (%) 41.6 41.7 0.1  

593  362 331 (31) (8.6)

Income taxes (€331 million) fell by €31 million, due mainly to lower pre-tax profit (-€77 million 

compared with the opening six months of 2012) as a result of higher net financial expense.

The tax rate in the first half of 2013 was 41.7%, broadly in line with the same period of the previous 

year (41.6%).

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Financial review
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Reclassified balance sheet

The reclassified balance sheet combines the assets and liabilities of the compulsory format included in 

the annual report and the half-year report based on how the business operates, usually split into the 

three basic functions: investment, operations and financing.

Management believes that this format presents useful information for investors as it allows identification 

of the sources of financing (equity and third-party funds) and the investment of financial resources in 

fixed and working capital.

The reclassified balance sheet format is used by management to calculate the key leverage and 

profitability ratios (ROI and ROE).

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Financial review

RECLASSIFIED BALANCE SHEET  (*) 

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013 Change

Fixed capital 19,567 19,707 140

Property, plant and equipment 14,522 14,543 21

Compulsory inventories 363 363  

Intangible assets 4,593 4,616 23

Equity investments 473 430 (43)

Financial receivables held for operations 2 2  

Net payables for investments (386) (247) 139

Net working capital (**) (1,139) (1,166) (27)

Provisions for employee benefits (**) (129) (130) (1)

Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities 15 15  

NET INvESTED CAPITAl 18,314 18,426 112

Shareholders’ equity (including minority interests) (**)    

- attributable to Snam 5,915 5,865 (50)

- attributable to minority interests 1 1  

 5,916 5,866 (50)

Net financial debt 12,398 12,560 162

COvERAGE 18,314 18,426 112

(*)  For the reconciliation of the reclassified balance sheets with the compulsory format, please see the paragraph “Reconciliation of the reclassified financial statements with the compulsory 
formats” below.

(**) The figures recorded at 31 December 2012 were restated following the retrospective application of the new provisions of IAS 19. The restatement resulted in: (i) an increase in provisions for 
employee benefits (€21 million); (ii) an improvement in net working capital (€7 million) following the reduction in deferred tax liabilities; and (iii) a reduction in shareholders’ equity (€14 
million) in terms of net effect. More details can be found in Note 1 to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements, “Basis of presentation and accounting principles”.

Fixed capital (€19,707 million) rose by €140 million compared with 31 December 2012, due 

essentially to the reduction in net payables for investments (+€139 million), related mainly to 

payment trends, and to the increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (+€44 

million). These factors were partly offset by the reduction in investments valued at equity (-€43 

million).
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Changes in property, plant and equipment (+€21 million) and intangible assets (+€23 million) are 

analysed below:

(€ million)

Property, plant
and equipment

Intangible 
assets Total

Balance at 31 December 2012 14,522 4,593 19,115

Investments 334 156 490

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses (264) (112) (376)

Transfers, eliminations and divestments (2) (6) (8)

Other changes (47) (15) (62)

Balance at 30 June 2013 14,543 4,616 19,159

Other changes (-€62 million) relate essentially to: (i) the recognition of contributions for the period 

(-€37 million); (ii) the change in inventory of piping and related accessory materials purchased for 

investment purposes and not yet used in plant construction (-€15 million); and (iii) the effect of 

adjusting the current value of expenditure relating to the estimated charges for storage site dismantling 

and restoration (-€15 million), due essentially to the increase in forecast discount rates.

Equity investments

This item (€430 million) includes the valuation of investments using the equity method and refers 

in particular to the companies Toscana Energia S.p.A. (€144 million), Azienda Energia e Servizi Torino 

S.p.A. (€108 million), Gasbridge 1 B.V. and Gasbridge 2 B.V. (€124 million in total) and ACAM Gas 

S.p.A. (€48 million).

NET WORKING CAPITAL

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013 Change

Trade receivables 1,921 1,977 56

Inventories 202 183 (19)

Tax receivables 125 44 (81)

Other assets 193 322 129

Trade payables (764) (897) (133)

Deferred tax liabilities (827) (790) 37

Provisions for risks and charges (757) (748) 9

Accruals and deferrals from regulated activities (309) (266) 43

Tax payables (81) (145) (64)

Other liabilities (842) (846) (4)

 (1,139) (1,166) (27)

Net working capital decreased by €27 million compared with 31 December 2012 to €1,166 million, 

owing mainly to: (i) higher trade payables (-€133 million), especially in the natural gas transportation 

segment (-€103 million), essentially due to payables arising from the balancing service; (ii) fewer tax 

receivables (-€81 million), due mainly to the use of VAT credits outstanding at 31 December 2012 and 

associated with the distribution segment; and (iii) higher tax payables (-€64 million), due mainly to 

advance-payment dynamics.
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These factors were partly offset by: (i) an increase in “Other assets” (+€129 million), owing mainly to 

receivables from associates and joint ventures for dividends pertaining to 2012 (+€69 million) and to 

higher natural gas distribution receivables from the Electricity Equalisation Fund (+€61 million); (ii) 

higher trade receivables (+€56 million) in the natural gas transportation segment (+€139 million), due 

essentially to receivables arising from the balancing service, offset in part by the reduction in distribution 

receivables (-€107 million) mainly as a result of the seasonal nature of gas volumes distributed; and (iii) 

an increase in accruals and deferrals from regulated activities (+€43 million).

Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities 

Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities relate to a property complex owned by Italgas (€15 

million, net of environmental provisions for charges relating to restoration work on the property) for 

which negotiations for a sale are ongoing11.

11 These negotiations are pursuant to commitments arising from the agreement to buy Italgas from Eni. More information 
on the commitments made by the parties can be found in Note 28 of the 2012 Annual Report, “Guarantees, commitments 
and risks”.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(€ million)

First half  
2012

First half  
2013

Net profit 508 462

Other components of comprehensive income   

Components that can be reclassified to the income statement:   

Change in fair value of cash flow hedge derivatives (effective share) (54)  

Share of “Other comprehensive income” on equity-accounted entities  (8)

Tax effect 17  

Total other components of comprehensive income, net of tax effect (37) (8)

Total comprehensive income 471 454

. attributable to:   

 - Snam 471 454

 - Minority shareholders   

 471 454

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Financial review
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EqUITY

(€ million)
  

Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2012  5,916

Increases owing to:   

- Comprehensive income for first half 2013 454  

- Other changes 3  

  457

Decreases owing to:   

- Distribution of balance of 2012 dividend (507)  

  (507)

Shareholders’ equity including minority interests at 30 June 2013 5,866

attributable to:   

- Snam  5,865

- Minority shareholders  1

 5,866

Other changes (+€3 million) relate to the exercise of 982,500 stock options by Snam executives.

At 30 June 2013, Snam held 1,924,050 treasury shares (2,906,550 at 31 December 2012), equal to 

0.06% of its share capital, with a book value of €8 million. Their market value at 30 June 2013 was 

around €7 million12. At 30 June 2013, 1,538,850 shares were tied up in stock option plans for 2005, 

2007 and 200813.

12 Calculated by multiplying the number of treasury shares by the period-end official price of €3.48 per share.

13 Details on the stock option plans can be found in the “Other information” section of this Report.

NET FINANCIAL DEBT

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013 Change

Financial liabilities 12,413 12,564 151

Short-term financial liabilities 364 798 434

Current share of long-term financial liabilities 110 250 140

Long-term financial liabilities 11,939 11,516 (423)

Financial receivables and cash and cash equivalents (15) (4) 11

Cash and cash equivalents (15) (4) 11

 12,398 12,560 162

Net financial debt was €12,560 million at 30 June 2013, compared with €12,398 million at 31 

December 2012.
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The net cash flow from operations (€919 million) allowed us to fully cover the financial requirements 

associated with net investments for the period (€577 million) and to generate a free cash flow of €342 

million. The net financial debt of €12,560 million, after the payment to shareholders of the balance 

of the 2012 dividend of €507 million, increased by €162 million compared with 31 December 2012.

Financial liabilities at 30 June 2013, which totalled €12,564 million, were denominated entirely in 

euros and consisted of bonds (€7.6 billion, accounting for 60.8% of the total), payables to banks 

(€4.2 billion, accounting for 33.6%), and loan agreements concerning European Investment Bank (EIB) 

funding (€0.7 billion, accounting for 5.6%).

Long-term financial liabilities of €11,766 million make up approximately 94% of financial debt (around 

97% at 31 December 2012) and have an average duration of approximately five years (unchanged 

from 31 December 2012).

The breakdown of debt by type of interest rate at 30 June 2013 is as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 % 30.06.2013 % Change

Floating rate 6,365               51 4,957               39 (1,408)

Fixed rate 6,048               49 7,607               61  1,559

 12,413            100 12,564            100 151

Floating-rate debt (€4,957 million) fell by €1,408 million compared with 31 December 2012, owing 

essentially to the early extinguishment of the term loan (-€1,483 million) and to the repayment of 

long-term revolving credit lines (-€360 million). These factors were offset in part by an increase in 

short-term debt (+€434 million), due mainly to the use of uncommitted credit lines.

Fixed-rate financial debt (€7,607 million) increased by €1,559 million following the 10 April 2013 

issuance in two tranches of bonds totalling €1.5 billion.

At 30 June 2013, Snam had unused committed long-term credit lines worth €3.5 billion.

There are no bonds due to mature in the 18 months after 30 June 201314.

Covenants

The main bilateral and syndicated loans in place with banks and other financial institutions as at 30 

June 2013 included covenants, in line with international practice. These concern, inter alia, compliance 

with financial covenants and pari passu, negative pledge and change of control clauses. Some covenants 

are also provided for the bonds issued by Snam under the EMTN programme. All the checks carried out 

on the financial covenants provided for under the financial contracts in place confirmed that the said 

covenants had been complied with.

More details on the covenants can be found in Note 16 to the condensed interim consolidated financial 

statements, “Long-term liabilities and short-term portions of long-term liabilities”.

14 More information on the specifications of outstanding bonds can be found in Note 16 to the condensed interim consolidated 
financial statements, “Long-term liabilities and short-term portions of long-term liabilities”. 

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Financial review
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Reclassified statement of cash flows 

The reclassified statement of cash flows set out below summarises the legally required format. It shows 

the connection between the opening and closing cash and cash equivalents and the change in net 

financial debt during the period. The two statements are reconciled through the free cash flow, i.e. the 

cash surplus or deficit left over after servicing capital expenditure. The free cash flow closes either: 

(i) with the change in cash for the period, after adding/deducting all cash flows related to financial 

liabilities/assets (taking out/repaying financial receivables/payables) and equity (payment of dividends/

capital injections); or (ii) with the change in net financial debt for the period, after adding/deducting the 

debt flows related to equity (payment of dividends/capital injections).

RECLASSIFIED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  (*)

(€ million)

First half  
2012

First half  
2013

Net profit 508 462

Adjusted by:   

- Amortisation, depreciation and other non-monetary components 322 342

- Net capital losses (capital gains) on asset sales and eliminations  (2)

- Dividends, interest and income taxes 521 553

Change in working capital due to operating activities (189) 102

Dividends, interest and income taxes collected (paid) (548) (538)

Net cash flow from operating activities 614 919

Investments (493) (438)

Change in consolidation scope and business units (26) (10)

Divestments 27 10

Other changes relating to investment activities (186) (139)

Free cash flow (64) 342

Change in short- and long-term financial debt 551 151

Equity cash flow (473) (504)

Net cash flow for the period 14 (11)

(*)  For the reconciliation of the reclassified statement of cash flows with the compulsory format, please see the paragraph “Reconciliation of the reclassified financial statements with the 
compulsory formats” below.

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL DEBT

(€ million)

First half  
2012

First half  
2013

Free cash flow (64) 342

Equity cash flow (473) (504)

Change in net financial debt (537) (162)
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Reconciliation of the reclassified financial statements with the compulsory formats 

RECLASSIFIED BALANCE SHEET

(€ million)

Reclassified balance sheet items  31.12.2012 30.06.2013

(Where not expressly stated, the component 
is taken directly from the legally required format)

Reference to notes 
to consolidated 

financial statements

Partial amount 
from legally 

required format

Amount from 
reclassified 

format

Partial amount 
from legally 

required format

Amount from 
reclassified 

format

Fixed capital      

Property, plant and equipment   14,522  14,543

Compulsory inventories   363  363

Intangible assets   4,593  4,616

Equity investments   473  430

Financial receivables held for operations (see Note 4)  2  2

Net payables for investments, consisting of:   (386)  (247)

- Payables for investment activities (see Note 13) (406)  (267)  

- Receivables from investment/divestment activities (see Note 4) 20  20  

Total fixed capital   19,567  19,707

Net working capital      

Trade receivables (see Note 4)  1,921  1,977

Inventories  202  183

Tax receivables, consisting of:   125  44

- Current income tax assets  11  10  

- Other current tax assets  89  5  

- IRES receivables for national tax consolidation scheme (see Note 4) 25  29  

Trade payables (see Note 13)  (764)  (897)

Tax payables, consisting of:  (81)  (145)

- Current income tax liabilities (46)  (97)  

- Other current tax liabilities  (28)  (48)  

- IRES payables for national tax consolidation scheme (see Note 13) (7)    

Deferred tax liabilities   (827)  (790)

Provisions for risks and charges  (757)  (748)

Other assets, consisting of:  193  322

- Other receivables (see Note 4) 80  209  

- Other current assets (see Note 6) 37  45  

- Other non-current assets (see Note 10) 76  68  

Accruals and deferrals from regulated activities, consisting of:  (309)  (266)

- Accrued income from regulated activities (see Notes 6,10) 132  136  

- Prepaid income from regulated activities (see Notes 15,19) (441)  (402)  

Other liabilities, consisting of:   (842)  (846)

- Other payables (see Note 13) (300)  (353)  

- Other current liabilities (see Note 15) (58)  (35)  

- Reclassification: derivative liabilities  (141)   

- Other non-current liabilities (see Note 19) (343)  (458)  

Total net working capital  (1.139)  (1.166)

Provisions for employee benefits  (129)  (130)

Assets held for sale 
and directly related liabilities, consisting of:  15  15

- Assets held for sale  23  23

- Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale  (8)  (8)  

NET INvESTED CAPITAl            18,314 18,426

Shareholders’ equity including minority interests              5,916  5,866

Net financial debt      

Financial liabilities, consisting of:            12,413  12,564

- Long-term financial liabilities            11,939  11,516  

- Current share of long-term financial liabilities                 110  250  

- Short-term financial liabilities                 505  798  

- Reclassification: derivative liabilities  (141)   

Financial receivables and cash and cash equivalents, consisting of:   (15)  (4)

- Cash and cash equivalents  (15)  (4)  

Total net financial debt            12,398  12,560 

COvERAGE            18,314  18,426
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RECLASSIFIED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Items from the reclassified statement of cash flows and reconciliation 
with the legally required format

Partial amount 
from legally 

required format

Amount from 
reclassified 

format

Partial amount 
from legally 

required format

Amount from 
reclassified 

format

Net profit  508  462

Adjusted by:     

Amortisation, depreciation and other non-monetary components:  322  342

- Amortisation and depreciation 345  376  

- Equity method valuation effect (24)  (35)  

- Change in provisions for employee benefits 1  1  

Net capital losses (capital gains) on asset sales and eliminations    (2)

Interest, income taxes and other changes:  521  553

- Interest income (2)  (3)  

- Interest expense 161  225  

- Income taxes 362  331  

Change in working capital due to operating activities:  (189)  102

- Inventories 35  47  

- Trade receivables (431)  (56)  

- Trade payables 221  133  

- Change in provisions for risks and charges 12  1  

- Other assets and liabilities (26)  118  

- Reclassification: derivative liabilities   (141)  

Dividends, interest and income taxes collected (paid):  (548)  (538)

- Dividends collected 2  1  

- Interest collected 3  1  

- Interest paid (161)  (215)  

- Income taxes (paid) received (392)  (325)  

Net cash flow from operating activities  614  919

Investments:  (493)  (438)

- Property, plant and equipment (351)  (304)  

- Intangible assets (142)  (134)  

Investments in companies joining the scope of consolidation and business units:  (26)  (10)

Divestments:  27  10

- Property, plant and equipment 27  1  

- Intangible assets   9  

Other changes relating to investment activities:  (186)  (139)

- Change in net payables for investments (186)  (139)  

Free cash flow  (64)  342

Change in financial payables:  551  151

- Reclassification: derivative liabilities   141  

- Taking on long-term financial debt 1,521  1,864  

- Repaying long-term financial debt (1,227)  (2,147)  

- Increase (decrease) in short-term financial debt 257  293  

Equity cash flow  (473)  (504)

Net cash flow for the period  14  (11)
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ElEMENTS OF RISK AND UNCERTAINTY

 

The main corporate risks identified, monitored and, where specified below, managed by Snam are as 

follows: (i) market risk arising from exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and in the price of natural 

gas; (ii) credit risk arising from the possible default of a counterparty; (iii) liquidity risk arising from 

insufficient financial resources to meet short-term commitments; (iv) rating risk; (v) risk of default 

and debt covenants; (vi) operating risk; and (vii) risks specific to the business segments in which the 

Group operates.

In the second quarter of 2013, Snam established the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) unit, which 

reports directly to the CEO and oversees the integrated process of managing corporate risk. The 

main objectives of ERM are to define a risk assessment model that allows risks to be identified using 

standardised, group-wide policies and then prioritised, to provide consolidated measures to mitigate 

these risks, and to draw up a reporting system.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in interest rates affect the market value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities 

and its net financial expense. Snam’s Risk Management structure aims to optimise interest rate risk 

while pursuing financial structure objectives. As a result of the centralised finance model, Snam’s 

structures encompass the needs of the Group and manage the positions thereof, in line with the 

objectives set out in the Financial Plan, ensuring that the risk profile remains within the defined limits.

At 30 June 2013, 61% of financial debt was fixed rate (49% at year end 2012) and the remaining 39% 

was floating rate (51% at year end 2012).

At 30 June 2013, the Snam Group used external financial resources in the form of fixed-rate bonds 

placed with institutional investors operating in Europe, bilateral and syndicated loans with banks and 

other financial institutions, in the form of medium- to long-term loans and bank credit lines at interest 

rates indexed to the reference market rates, in particular the Europe Interbank Offered Rate (Euribor).

Natural gas price risk  

Up to the end of the second regulatory period on 31 December 2009, the transportation costs 

incurred for the acquisition of gas needed to operate the compression stations were included in overall 

operating costs and therefore updated using the price-cap mechanism15. As at the start of the third 

regulatory period on 1 January 2010, the Electricity and Gas Authority, enacting the new tariff criteria 

laid down by Resolution ARG/gas 184/09, defined methods for payment in kind, by service users to 

transporters, of gas volumes to cover fuel gas, network losses and Unaccounted-For Gas (UFG), owed 

as a percentage of the volumes respectively injected into and withdrawn from the transportation 

network. As a result of these measures, and taking into account the mechanism for allocating gas 

to service users, change in the price of natural gas for hedging fuel gas and network losses no longer 

represents a risk factor for Snam. Price risk still exists from excess quantities of UFG and network 

losses withdrawn vis-à-vis the quantities paid for in kind by service users.

15 Under this mechanism, core revenue components relating to operating costs are updated with financial statement figures 
at the start of a regulatory period, whereas they are updated with inflation and reduced by a productivity coefficient in 
subsequent years.  
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the Company’s exposure to potential losses arising from counterparties failing to fulfil 

their obligations. Default or delayed payment of fees may have a negative impact on the financial 

balance and results of Snam.

For the risk of non-compliance by the counterparty concerning contracts of a commercial nature, the 

credit management for credit recovery and any disputes are handled by the business units and the 

centralised Snam departments. Guidelines and methods for quantifying and controlling client riskiness 

are drawn up at corporate level.

Snam provides business services to a small number of operators in the gas sector, the largest of which 

by business volume is Eni S.p.A. The rules for client access to the services offered are established by 

the Electricity and Gas Authority and set out in the Network Codes. For each type of service there 

are documents which explain the rules regulating the rights and obligations of the parties involved 

in providing said services and contractual clauses which minimise the risk of non-compliance by the 

clients. In particular, the Codes require guarantees to be provided to cover in part obligations where 

the client does not possess a credit rating issued by one of the leading international agencies. The 

regulations also contain specific clauses which guarantee the neutrality of the entity in charge of 

balancing, an activity carried out from 1 December 2011 by Snam Rete Gas as the major transportation 

company. In particular, the balancing gives Snam Rete Gas an obligation to acquire, according to 

criteria of financial merit, the resources necessary to guarantee the safe and efficient movement of 

gas from entry points to withdrawal points, in order to maintain a constant balance in the network, 

procure the necessary storage resources for covering imbalances for individual users and adjust the 

relevant income statement entries.

Snam may, however, incur liabilities and/or losses from the failure of its clients to comply with payment 

obligations, also given the current economic and financial situation, which makes the collection of 

receivables more complex and critical.

liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that new financial resources may not be available (funding liquidity risk) or that 

the Company may be unable to convert assets into cash on the market (asset liquidity risk), meaning 

that it cannot meet its payment commitments. This may affect profit or loss should the Company 

be obliged to incur extra costs to meet its commitments or, in extreme cases, lead to insolvency and 

threaten the Company’s future as a going concern.

Snam’s risk management system aims to establish, under the Financial Plan, a financial structure that, 

in line with the business objectives, ensures sufficient liquidity for the Group, minimising the relative 

opportunity cost and maintaining balance in terms of the duration and composition of the debt.

As shown in the section “Interest rate risk”, when implementing the debt refinancing programme, the 

Company had access to a wide range of funding sources through the credit system and the capital 

markets (bond loans, bilateral contracts, pool financing with major domestic and international banks 

and loan contracts with the European Investment Bank (EIB)).

Snam’s objective is to gradually achieve a balanced debt structure, in terms of the composition of the 

bonds and the bank credit and the availability of usable committed bank credit lines, in line with its 

business profile and the regulatory environment in which Snam operates.
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Rating risk

Moody’s confirmed a Baa1 (negative outlook) rating for Snam’s long-term debt on 7 February 2013. On 

11 July 2013, rating agency Standard & Poor’s downgraded Snam’s long-term credit rating by one notch, 

from A- to BBB+.

This followed a one-notch downgrade of Italy’s national sovereign debt rating on 9 July 2013 (from BBB+ 

to BBB).

Both agencies consider that the negative outlook for Snam’s rating is mainly due to the negative outlook 

for Italian sovereign debt. At the moment, Snam’s long-term rating is a notch higher than that of Italian 

sovereign debt. Based on the methodology adopted by the rating agencies, the downgrade by a notch of 

the current rating of the Italian Republic would trigger a downward adjustment of Snam’s current rating 

by at least a notch.

 

Risk of default and the debt covenant

The risk of default consists of the possibility that the loan contracts concluded contain provisions that 

provide the lender with the ability to activate contractual protections that could result in the early 

repayment of the loan in the event of the occurrence of specific events, thereby generating a potential 

liquidity risk.

At 30 June 2013, Snam has entered into unsecured bilateral and syndicated loan agreements with banks 

and other financial institutions. Some of these contracts provide, inter alia, for the following: (i) a financial 

covenant, on the basis of which the Company ensures that the relation between the net financial debt 

and the RAB will not exceed a contractually defined level; (ii) negative pledge commitments pursuant to 

which Snam and its subsidiaries cannot pledge real property rights or otherwise bind all or part of the 

respective assets, shares or merchandise; and (iii) pari passu and change of control clauses.

The bonds issued by Snam on 30 June 2013 as part of the Euro Medium Term Notes programme provide 

for compliance with covenants that reflect international market practices regarding, inter alia, negative 

pledge and pari passu clauses, but which do not encompass financial covenants.

Failure to comply with these covenants, and the occurrence of other events, some of which are subject to 

specific threshold values, such as cross-default events, may result in Snam’s failure to comply and could 

trigger the early repayment of the relative loan.

In the second half of 2013, all the contractually required verifications of the financial covenants confirmed 

compliance. 

Operating risk

Snam is required to comply with rules and regulations at EU, national, regional and local level.

The expenses associated with the actions required to fulfil its obligations constitute a significant cost 

item now and for the years ahead.

In addition to minimising the risks from its activities, compliance with rules and regulations is required 

in order to obtain authorisations and/or permits relating to health, safety and the environment. Violation 

of current regulations may result in criminal and/or civil sanctions and, in specific cases where safety and 

environmental rules are violated, companies may be liable on the basis of a European model of corporate 

social responsibility adopted in Italy by Legislative Decree 231/01. The possibility of Snam incurring 

significant costs or liability cannot be entirely ruled out.

Current regulations highlight the value of organisational models aimed at preventing offences in the 

event of violation of environmental and workplace health and safety laws, specifying corporate liability.

Snam uses organisational instruments and internal regulations to establish the responsibilities and 

procedures to be adopted with the Group when designing, constructing, operating and disposing of all 

corporate assets, thereby ensuring compliance with laws and internal regulations on health, safety and 

the environment.
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Snam and the companies it controls have implemented environmental and workplace health and 

safety management systems based on the principles of its own Health, Safety, Environment and 

quality Policy, which has been consolidated in the Company for several years.

The documentation and application of the Snam Management Systems are certified according to 

international regulations.

2013 is the first year in which all the Group companies are operating with OHSAS 18001 certification, 

which certifies corporate risk control and reduction, accident prevention and compliance with 

legislation in force.

In the first half of 2013, activities were launched to extend ISO 14001 environmental certification 

to all the processes of Snam Rete Gas (only the “gas pipeline management” and “plants” processes 

are currently certified). All of the Snam Group’s operating companies will therefore have a certified 

environmental management system in place, compliant with the ISO 14001 international standard, 

by the end of 2013.

By adopting management systems and procedures that take into account the specific characteristics 

of its business, and by continually improving and modernising its facilities, Snam ensures that it can 

identify, assess and mitigate risks as part of a cycle of continual improvement.

Snam pays the utmost attention to all its operational processes: from designing and constructing 

plants to operating and maintaining them. For the purposes of business management and operational 

control, the Company uses specific techniques that are continually being updated and are developed 

in compliance with international best practices.

Snam develops and maintains technical regulations and management systems for the environment 

and workplace health and safety based on an annual cycle of planning, implementation, control, 

reviewing results and setting new objectives.

Management system control is conducted by monitoring health, safety and environmental indicators, 

periodic reporting and inspections of operating sites and the registered office, which involve:

- a technical audit, designed to ensure that the management systems are applied correctly in 

compliance with the Code of Ethics and Organisational Model 231;

- management system checks on certification, maintenance and renovation (conducted at least 

annually by an external certifying body);

- health, safety and environment checks on outsourced activities.

The findings are examined together with the results of the operating checks, providing basic information 

for planning future activities and setting new objectives, in accordance with Snam principles.

Snam has adopted organisational and regulatory measures for preventing (availability, goods and 

services contracts, training, etc.) and managing any operational crises which may impact assets, people 

and the environment, identifying the actions required to limit damage.

Snam participates in international working groups which conduct benchmarking activities, draw up 

guidelines and carry out studies aimed at identifying ways in which gas transportation processes can 

be improved.

Faced with the need for ever-greater risk awareness and increasingly integrated risk management 

processes, Snam has adopted an Enterprise Risk Management model, designed to manage Group risk in 

an integrated way. This tool answers the need to systematically assess the risk profile associated with 

the business activities, to allow for planning and management of corporate performance from a point 

of view that encompasses both profitability and risk.
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The ERM system’s key aims are to:

- identify corporate risks and the processes that manage them;

- create a correlation between risk management processes, decision-making processes and corporate 

strategy;

- ensure that risk management processes are appropriately embedded within corporate processes.

In addition to the risk response, monitoring and management system and the HSE measures adopted 

across the group, Snam has taken out insurance to limit the possible negative effects on its assets of 

damage caused to third parties and to industrial property, whether onshore or offshore (Messina strait), 

that could occur during operations and/or investment works. The insured amount varies according to 

the type of event and is determined by current market best practice in risk assessment.

Risks connected with failing to meet infrastructure development objectives

Snam’s effective ability to develop its infrastructure is subject to many unforeseeable events linked 

to operating, economic, regulatory, authorisation and competition factors which are outside of its 

control. Snam is therefore unable to guarantee that the projects to upgrade and extend its network 

will be started, be completed or lead to the expected benefits in terms of tariffs. Additionally, the 

development projects may require greater investments or longer timeframes than those originally 

planned, affecting Snam’s financial position and results.

Risks deriving from malfunctioning of plants 

Managing regulated gas activities involves a number of risks of malfunctioning and unforeseeable 

service disruptions due to factors which are outside of Snam’s control, such as accidents, breakdowns 

or malfunctioning of equipment or control systems; the underperformance of plants; and extraordinary 

events such as explosions, fires, earthquakes, landslides or other similar events beyond Snam’s control. 

These events could also cause significant damage to people, property or the environment.

Any service interruptions and subsequent compensation obligations could lead to a decrease in 

revenue and/or an increase in costs. Although Snam has taken out specific insurance policies to cover 

some of these risks, the related insurance cover could be insufficient to meet all the losses incurred, 

compensation obligations or cost increases.

 

Risks deriving from the need to manage a significant flow of information to operate regulated services

The regulatory framework in which Snam operates involves continually collecting and processing a 

significant flow of information from its service clients. The information received by Snam includes, 

inter alia, capacity bookings, details of where gas is coming from and going to each day, physical and 

commercial balancing mechanisms and forecasts on demand and transportation capacity usage. This 

flow of information, partly managed by extensive use of IT systems, is broad and complex. Therefore, 

Snam cannot guarantee that its management will not lead to operating and planning difficulties which 

could affect its business.

Risks deriving from the seasonal nature of the business

Snam’s overall business is not affected by seasonal or cyclical factors which could have a significant 

impact on its annual or interim financial position and results. On the basis of current tariffs, only a 

minimal part of Snam’s revenue is exposed to changes in gas demand (around 15% of natural gas 

transportation revenue and around 10% of LNG regasification revenue).



44

Snam half-year Report 2013

Snam Interim Directors’ report / Elements of risk and uncertainty

Risks specific to the sectors in which Snam operates

Regulation

Snam operates in the regulated gas sector. The relevant directives and legal provisions issued by the 

European Union and the Italian government, and the resolutions of the Electricity and Gas Authority, 

may have a significant impact on operations, results and financial stability. More specifically, Decree-

Law 138 of 13 August 2011, which was converted into Law 148 of 14 September 2011, extended the 

application of additional IRES to the natural gas transportation and distribution business segments, 

with a tax rise of 10.5% for 2011-2013 and 6.5% as of 2014. Companies are not permitted to pass 

on the tax rise to customers via tariff increases and the Electricity and Gas Authority has been 

mandated to enforce this rule. Future changes to European Union or Italian legislative policies, 

which may have unforeseeable effects on the relevant legislative framework and, therefore, on 

Snam’s operations and results, cannot be ruled out.

Risks associated with the end of gas distribution concessions held by Italgas and its subsidiaries and 

associates

Risks relating to tenders for new gas distribution concessions

At 30 June 2013, Snam, through Italgas, had a portfolio of 1,435 natural gas distribution concessions 

spread throughout Italy. On the basis of current regulations applicable to Snam’s concessions, new 

gas distribution contracts will be awarded not by individual municipality but exclusively by zones 

determined by the Ministerial Decrees of 19 January 2011 and 18 October 2011, and also according 

to the timeframes indicated in Annex 1 of the Ministerial Decree on bid evaluation and auction 

criteria, issued on 12 November 2011.

As the tender process unfolds, Snam may not be awarded one or more of the new concessions, or it 

may be awarded them on less favourable terms than is currently the case. This could have a negative 

impact on Snam’s operations, results, balance sheet and cash flow, notwithstanding, should the 

Company not be awarded concessions for municipalities it currently manages, the reimbursement 

to the outgoing operator.

Risks relating to the possible request from municipalities to acquire ownership of the gas 

distribution networks and to quantifying reimbursement to the outgoing operator

With reference to the gas distribution concessions of which Italgas also owns the networks and 

plants, regulatory changes in the sector determine the legal rules of ownership and the elements 

required to calculate the amount to be reimbursed to the outgoing operator, both in the first period 

and in subsequent periods.

In particular, the Decree issued by the Minister of Economic Development on 5 February 2013, 

which definitively approved the standard service contract proposed by the Authority, stipulates that:

- in the first period, the amount to be reimbursed to existing concession and contract holders shall be 

calculated on the basis of what has been agreed, or, where this is not possible, on the basis of criteria 

established in Royal Decree 2578 of 15 October 1925 (the “industrial value” criterion);

- in the event of a dispute over the amount to be reimbursed to the outgoing operator, the call for 

tenders reports that the winning operator pays, upon transfer of ownership of the plants, the higher 

of the estimate by the awarding local authorities and the value of the local net fixed assets, net 

of government grants for capital expenditure and private contributions relating to local assets, 

recognised by the tariff system of the Electricity and Gas Authority (RAB). Once the dispute has been 

resolved, any difference will be settled between the incoming operator and the outgoing operator;
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- the incoming operator will acquire ownership of the plant by paying the outgoing operator the 

reimbursement amount, with the exception of any parts owned by the local municipality;

- in subsequent periods, the reimbursement to the outgoing operator shall be the value of local net 

fixed assets, net of government grants for capital expenditure and private contributions relating to 

local assets, calculated on the basis of criteria used by the Electricity and Gas Authority to determine 

distribution tariffs (RAB).

The risk remains that resolving the dispute with the local authorities on how to determine the 

reimbursement will lead to the amount being less than was indicated during the tender process and 

was actually paid to Italgas, which could have a negative impact on the Company’s results, balance 

sheet and cash flow.

Risks relating to gas storage concession ownership

Through Stogit, Snam holds ten gas storage concessions. Of these, eight (Alfonsine, Brugherio, 

Cortemaggiore, Minerbio, Ripalta, Sabbioncello, Sergnano and Settala) expire in December 2016, 

one (Bordolano) expires in November 2031 and the other (Fiume Treste), which was extended 

for a decade for the first time during 2011, expires in June 2022. Each Stogit concession issued 

before Legislative Decree 164/2000 came into force may be extended by the Ministry of Economic 

Development no more than twice for a duration of ten years at a time, pursuant to Article 1, 

paragraph 61 of Law 239/2004. Pursuant to Article 34, paragraph 18 of Decree-Law 179/2012, 

converted by Law 221/2012, each Stogit concession issued after Legislative Decree 164/2000 came 

into force (Bordolano) has a duration of thirty years and can only be granted one ten-year extension. 

If Snam is unable to retain ownership of one or more of its concessions or if, at the time of the 

renewal, the concessions are awarded under terms less favourable than the current ones, there may 

be negative effects on the Company’s operations, results, balance sheet and cash flow.

Risk relating to uncertainty about natural gas reserves

There are several uncertainties surrounding estimations of natural gas reserves in the storage fields 

where Snam operates through Stogit, and therefore their future use and necessary investments. The 

accuracy of these estimations depends on a certain number of factors, assumptions and variables, 

among which some of the most important are: (a) the quality of geological, technical and economic 

data and their interpretation and evaluation; (b) projections for future usage and timeframes for 

the relevant investment; (c) the stability or otherwise of sector laws and regulations; and (d) the 

actual results of drilling and general production activity in the reservoirs for which Snam owns a 

concession, which are subsequent to the estimation date and which may cause said estimations to 

be raised or lowered.

Factors other than those listed above which may influence reserve estimations are beyond Snam’s 

control, and may therefore vary over time. As a result, there may be differences between estimated 

reserves and those actually available for use, which may have negative effects on operations, results, 

the balance sheet and cash flow.
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Risks connected with certain socio-political situations in natural gas production and transit countries

A large part of the natural gas which travels through the Snam transportation network does, or 

may, come from or travel through countries which present risks deriving from certain socio-political 

situations. Importing and transiting natural gas from or through such countries may present risks 

such as: higher taxes and excise duties; production, export or transportation limits; enforced contract 

renegotiations; nationalisation or renationalisation of assets; changes to national political and 

governing systems; changes to commercial policies; monetary restrictions; and loss or damage owing 

to the actions of rebel groups. If shippers are unable to access the natural gas available in these 

countries as a result of the aforementioned or similar situations or they are damaged in any other 

way by said situations, they may be unable to fulfil their contractual obligations to Snam or there may 

be a reduction in volumes of gas transported. Such events may therefore have a negative effect on 

operations, results, the balance sheet and cash flow.
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OUTlOOK

Management’s priorities are to expand the Company’s business by constructing significant new gas 

infrastructure in Italy and assessing strategic development opportunities in Europe.

Gas demand 

On the basis of information currently available, natural gas demand on the Italian market at the end of 

2013 is expected to be lower than 2012, due mainly to lower consumption in the thermoelectric sector.

Investments 

The investment plan for the four-year period 2013-2016 is proceeding according to schedule, with overall 

projected expenditure of approximately €6.2 billion at consolidated level.

Efficiency 

Snam confirms its commitment to maximising the creation of value through both operating efficiency 

and an efficient capital structure.



Other information
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Relationships with related parties

Snam’s related parties are associate companies and companies under joint control, as well as 

subsidiaries outside the Group’s scope of consolidation, and other companies owned or controlled 

by the State, particularly by Group companies Eni, Enel and CDP. Transactions with these entities 

refer to the exchange of assets and the provision of regulated services within the gas sector 

and, with regard to CDP, the provision of financial resources. Members of the Board of Directors, 

Statutory Auditors and Group Snam managers with strategic responsibilities, and their families, are 

also regarded as related parties.

Transactions between Snam and related parties are part of ordinary business operations and are 

generally settled under market conditions, i.e. the conditions that would be applied between two 

independent parties. All the transactions carried out were in the interest of the companies of the 

Snam Group. 

Pursuant to the provisions of the relevant legislation, the Company has adopted internal procedures 

to ensure that transactions carried out by Snam or its subsidiaries with related parties are transparent 

and correct in their substance and procedure16. 

Directors and auditors declare their interests affecting the Company and the Group every six months, 

and/or when changes in said interests occur; they also inform the CEO (or the Chairman, if the CEO 

has an interest), who in turns informs the other directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors, of 

individual transactions that the Company intends to carry out and in which they have an interest.

There are no shareholders that exercise control over Snam. Snam is not subject to management and 

coordination. Snam manages and coordinates its two subsidiaries, pursuant to Article 2497 et seq. 

of the Italian Civil Code.

The amounts involved in commercial, miscellaneous and financial relations with related parties, 

descriptions of the key transactions and the impact of these on the balance sheet, income statement 

and cash flows, are provided in Note 30 in the Notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial 

statements.

Changes to stock option plans

As of 2009, Snam discontinued the managers’ incentive plan based on stock option allocation. 

Information on the remaining plan assets from previous years is provided below.

At 30 June 2013 there were 1,538,850 options outstanding to purchase 1,538,850 ordinary shares 

of Snam. The options refer to the 2005 allocation (538,000 shares with a strike price of €4.399), the 

2007 allocation (204,050 shares with a strike price of €3.545) and the 2008 allocation (796,800 

shares with a strike price of €3.463).

16 The procedure for related-party transactions, pursuant to Article 4 of Consob Regulation 17221 of 12 March 2010, as 
subsequently amended, which was approved by the Board on 30 November 2010, is available on the Company’s website at 
www.snam.it, in the Governance section.
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Post-balance sheet events

Post-balance sheet events refer to the closing of the TIGF acquisition. For more details, please see the 

“Highlights” section in this Report.

The change in the stock option plans at 30 June 2013 is as follows:

No of options
Average strike 

price (€)
Average market 

price (€)

Options existing at 1 January 2013 2,521,350 3.68 3.52

New options assigned    

Options exercised during the period (982,500) 3.48 3.70

Options expired during the period    

Options existing at 30 June 2013 1,538,850 3.80 3.48

of which exercisable 1,538,850 3.80  
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A glossary of financial, commercial and technical terms, as well as units of measurement, is available 

online at www.snam.it. The most common terms are described below. 

Economic and financial terms

Adjusted net profit

The result obtained by subtracting special items from net profit. Income entries are classified as special 

items, if material, when: (i) they result from non-recurring events or transactions or from events 

which do not occur frequently in the ordinary course of business; or (ii) they result from events or 

transactions which are not representative of the normal course of business.

Amortisation

Process by which the cost of fixed assets is spread over a certain period to the advantage of the 

Company, usually the useful life of the asset. 

Cash flow

Net cash flow from operations is represented by the cash generated by a company over a certain 

period of time. Specifically, it is the difference between current inflows (mainly cash revenue) and 

current cash outflows (costs in the period that generated cash outflows). 

Comprehensive income

Includes both net income for the period and changes in equity, which are recognised in equity in 

accordance with IFRSs (Other components of comprehensive income).

Controllable fixed costs 

Fixed operating costs of regulated activities, represented by the sum of “Total recurring personnel 

expense” and “Recurring external operating costs”.

Core business revenue

Income from selling goods and/or providing services that are integral to the core business, including 

all recurring economic values linked to a company’s typical field of business.

Derivatives 

A financial instrument is defined as a derivative when its price/yield profile derives from the price/yield 

parameters of other major instruments – known as “underlying” – such as commodities, currencies, 

interest rates, securities and share indices. 

Dividend

Payment to shareholders voted for by the Shareholders’ Meeting and proposed by the Board of 

Directors.

Dividend payout

Ratio between the dividend and net profit for the period, and equal to the percentage of profits paid 

out to shareholders in the form of dividends.
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EBIT

Difference in a given period between sales and services revenue, other revenue, operating costs, 

depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses over a given period. It is therefore the operating profit 

before financial income and costs and taxes. 

EBITDA

Used by Snam in its internal (business plan) and external (to analysts and investors) presentations. Unit 

of measurement to assess the Group’s operating performance, as a whole and in the individual business 

segments, in addition to EBIT. Determined by the difference between revenue and operating costs. 

Excise duty

Indirect tax for immediate payment, applied to the production or consumption of certain industrial 

goods (including oil products and natural gas). 

Investments

Costs incurred for the acquisition of long-term assets where the useful life does not expire over one 

reporting period.

Net financial debt

A valid indicator of the ability to meet financial obligations. Net financial debt is represented by gross 

financial debt minus cash and cash equivalents as well as other financial receivables not held for 

operations. 

Net financial expense

Net cost incurred for using third-party capital. Includes other net expense related to financial operations.

Net invested capital

Net investments of an operational nature, represented by the sum of net working capital and fixed 

assets, provisions for employee benefits and assets and liabilities held for sale. 

Net profit

EBIT minus the result from financial operations and income taxes.

Net working capital

Capital which is invested in short-term assets and is an indicator of a company’s short-term financial 

position. Calculated using all short-term, non-financial assets and liabilities.

Non-current assets

Balance sheet item which shows long-lasting assets, net of amortisation, depreciation and impairment 

losses. These are divided into the following categories: “Property, plant and equipment”, “Compulsory 

inventories”, “Intangible assets”, “Equity investments”, “Financial assets” and “Other non-current assets”.

Operating costs

Costs incurred in carrying out a company’s core business. These include purchases, services, energy, 

consumables, maintenance and personnel expense.

Shareholders’ equity 

Total resources contributed by shareholders, plus retained profits and minus losses.
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NATURAL GAS TRANSPORTATION AND REGASIFICATION

Commercial terms

Network Code

Document governing the rights and obligations of those involved in providing the transportation 

service.

Network entry point

Each point or a localised group of physical points on the national gas transportation network at which 

gas is delivered from the user to the transporter.

Redelivery point 

This is the physical network point, or local combination of physical points, at which the transporter 

redelivers gas transported to the user, and where such gas is metered. 

Regasification Code

Document which sets out the rules and processes characteristic of the natural gas regasification service.

Regasification Tariffs

Unit prices applied for regasification. These include capacity and commodity tariffs, related to the 

required regasification capacity and to the volumes of gas actually unloaded from tankers, respectively.

Regulatory period

Period of time (usually four years) for which criteria are defined for setting tariffs for transporting and 

dispatching natural gas and for regasifying liquefied natural gas. For the transportation business, the 

third regulatory period is under way, which began on 1 January 2010 and will end on 31 December 

2013. For the regasification business, the third regulatory period is under way, which began on 1 

October 2008 and will end on 31 December 2013, following an extension of the tariff criteria for the 

transition period from 1 October 2012 to 31 December 2013. 

 

Thermal year 

Period of time into which the regulatory period is divided. Since 1 January 2010, transportation tariffs 

have referred to the calendar year (1 January to 31 December). For LNG regasification, the last thermal 

year, which began on 1 October 2011 and will end on 31 December 2013, has had a one-off extension 

of 15 months for tariff purposes from 1 October 2012 to 31 December 2013.

Transportation capacity

Transportation capacity is the maximum quantity of gas which can be injected into the system 

(or withdrawn from it) during the course of a gas day, at a specific location, in compliance with 

the technical and operating restrictions established for each section of pipeline and the maximum 

performance of plants located along such pipelines. 

These capacities are assessed using hydraulic network simulations carried out in appropriate 

transportation scenarios and in accordance with recognised technical standards.
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Transportation Tariffs 

Unit prices applied for transporting and dispatching natural gas. These include capacity and commodity 

tariffs, related to the required transportation capacity and to the volumes of gas actually injected into 

the network, respectively.

User 

The user of the gas system, which, by confirming the capacity granted, acquires transportation capacity 

for its own use or assignment to others.

virtual exchange point (vEP)

A virtual point located between the Points of Entry and Points of Exit of the national transportation 

network where users and other authorised entities may, on a daily basis, exchange and sell gas injected 

into the network. 

Technical terms

liquefied natural gas (lNG)

Natural gas essentially comprising methane liquefied by cooling at around -160°C, at atmospheric 

pressure, to make it suitable for methane tanker transportation or reservoir storage. In order to be 

injected into the transportation network, the liquid must be reconverted into a gas at regasification 

plants and brought to the operating pressure of the pipelines. 

lNG regasification

Industrial process whereby natural gas is converted from a liquid to a gaseous state.

National gas pipeline network

This consists of the gas pipelines indicated in Article 2 of the Ministerial Decree of 22 December 2000, 

as updated annually. It is the aggregate of gas pipelines and plants which have been assessed and 

checked taking into account restrictions imposed by imports, exports, key national production and 

storage facilities, and is used to transfer significant quantities of gas from these network injection 

points to major areas of consumption. Several inter-regional gas pipelines as well as smaller pipelines 

which serve to close network links formed by the above pipelines are also included for the same 

purpose. The national gas transportation network also includes compression stations and plants 

connected to the pipelines described above.

Natural gas

Hydrocarbon mixture consisting mainly of methane, and to a lesser degree, ethane, propane and 

higher hydrocarbons. Natural gas injected in the gas pipeline network must comply with a single 

quality specification to ensure that the gas in transit is interchangeable.

Natural gas transportation network

The aggregate of gas pipelines, line plants, compression stations and infrastructure, which, at the 

national and regional level, provide the transportation of gas by interconnecting with international 

transportation networks, production and storage points and redelivery points for the purposes of 

distribution and use.
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Regional transportation network 

This consists of gas pipelines not included in the list in Article 2 of the Ministerial Decree of 22 

December 2000, as updated annually, and its main function is to move and distribute gas in demarcated 

local areas, which are typically regional in scale.

NATURAL GAS STORAGE

Commercial terms

Injection phase

Period from 1 April to 31 October of the same year.

Regulatory period

Period of time (usually four years) for which criteria are defined for setting tariffs for natural gas 

storage services. We are currently in the third regulatory period, which runs from 1 January 2011 to 

31 December 2014.

Thermal year 

Period of time into which the regulatory period is divided. Since 1 January 2011, storage tariffs have 

been based on the calendar year (1 January to 31 December).

Withdrawal phase 

Period from 1 November of one year to 31 March of the following year.

Technical terms

Modulation storage

Aims to respond to changing hourly, daily and seasonal demands.

Mining storage

Mining storage is necessary for technical and economic reasons in order to enable optimum cultivation 

of Italy’s natural gas fields. 

Strategic storage

Aims to provide for a lack of or reduction in supplies from non-EU imports or crises in the gas system.
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NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTION

Commercial terms

Concession

The deed by which a local authority entrusts to a company the management of a service which falls 

within the remit of said authority and for which said company assumes the operational risk.

Distribution Code

The document governing the rights and obligations of those involved in providing the gas distribution 

service.

End client

Consumer that buys gas for their own use.

Gas distribution service

Service of transporting natural gas through networks of local pipelines from one or more delivery 

points to redelivery points, generally at low pressure and in urban areas, for delivery to end clients.

Redelivery point 

This is the point of demarcation between the gas distribution plant and the plant owned or managed 

by the end customer at which the distribution company redelivers gas transported for supply to the 

end customer, and at which metering occurs.

Regulatory period

Period of time (usually four years) for which criteria are defined for setting tariffs for gas distribution 

services. The third regulatory period is currently under way, which began on 1 January 2009 and will 

end on 31 December 2013, following an extension of the tariff criteria for the transitional period from 

1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013.

Retail Company

Company which, by way of a contract giving it access to the networks managed by a distributor, sells 

the gas.

 

Tariff area

The tariff area is the area used to determine distribution tariffs and consists of all communities served 

by the same distribution plant. If several local authorities collectively designate an operator to perform 

the distribution service, or declare themselves a single tariff area, the tariff area coincides with the 

group of municipalities served through several distribution plants by one or more operators.

Thermal year

Period of time into which the regulatory period is divided. Since 1 January 2009, distribution tariffs 

have been based on the calendar year (1 January to 31 December).
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Equalisation

Difference between revenue for the period (annual TRL) and those invoiced to retail companies on the 

basis of volumes distributed. The net position with the Equalisation Fund is established at the end of 

the thermal year and settled over the course of the year on the basis of advance payments.

Gas distributed

Amount of gas delivered to users of the distribution network at the redelivery points.

TRl (Total Revenue limit)

Total revenue allowed for distribution companies by the regulatory body to cover costs for providing 

distribution and metering services.
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Balance sheet

01.01.2012   31.12.2012 30.06.2013

 
(€ million) Notes Total 

of which 
with related 

parties Total

of which 
with related 

parties

 ASSETS      

 Current assets      

2 Cash and cash equivalents  15   4

1,545 Trade and other receivables (4) 2,048 545  2,237 563

235 Inventories (5) 202   183

3 Current income tax assets 11   10

5 Other current tax assets 89   5

33 Other current assets (6) 115   84

1,823   2,480   2,523

 Non-current assets    

14,053 Property, plant and equipment (7) 14,522   14,543

405 Compulsory inventories 363   363

4,444 Intangible assets (8) 4,593   4,616

319 Equity-accounted investments (9) 473   430

81 Other non-current assets (10) 130   165

19,302   20,081   20,117

25 Non-current assets held for sale (11) 23   23

     

21,150 TOTAL ASSETS  22,584  22,663  

 LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    

 Current liabilities      

2,787 Short-term financial liabilities (12) 505 141  798 5

 Short-term portion of long-term     

1,612 financial liabilities (16) 110 2  250 3

1,344 Trade and other payables (13) 1,477 304  1,517 296

175 Current income tax liabilities (14) 46   97

16 Other current tax liabilities (14) 28   48

211 Other current liabilities (15) 218   147 2

6,145   2,384   2,857

 Non-current liabilities    

6,800 Long-term financial liabilities (16) 11,939 400  11,516 400

527 Provisions for risks and charges (17) 757   748

109 Provisions for employee benefits (*)  129   130

900 Deferred tax liabilities (*) (18) 827   790

869 Other non-current liabilities (19) 624   748

9,205   14,276   13,932

9 Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale (11) 8  8

15,359 TOTAL LIABILITIES  16,668  16,797

     

 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (20)   

 Snam shareholders’ equity    

 3,571 Share capital  3,571   3,571

 2,550 Reserves (*)  1,915   1,840

 790 Net profit  779   462

(783) Treasury shares  (12)  (8)

(338) Interim dividend  (338)   

 5,790 Total Snam shareholders’ equity  5,915   5,865

 1 Minority interests  1   1

5,791 TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  5,916   5,866

21,150 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  22,584   22,663

(*)  The balances as at 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 were restated following the retrospective application of the new provisions of IAS 19. The effects of this are illustrated in Note 1, 
“Basis of presentation and accounting principles”. 
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Income statement

  First half 2012 First half 2013

 
(€ million) Notes Total 

of which with 
related parties Total

of which with 
related parties

REVENUE (23)     

Core business revenue  1,791 1,160 1,839 1,218

Other revenue and income  72 25 66 2

Total revenue  1,863  1,905 

OPERATING COSTS (24)   

Purchases, services and other costs  (328) (23) (339) (17)

Personnel expense  (177)  (170)

AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION 
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 

 
(345)

 
(376)

EBIT  1,013  1,020 

FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE) (25)   

Financial income  2  3 

Financial expense  (126) (116) (265) (6)

Derivatives  (43) (43)  

  (167)  (262)

INCOME (EXPENSE) ON EQUITY INVESTMENTS (26) 24  35 

Equity method valuation effect  24  35 

  

PRE-TAX PROFIT  870  793 

Income taxes (27) (362)   (331)

Net profit  508  462

Attributable to:    

- Snam  508  462

- Minority shareholders    

  

Profit per share (€ per share) (28)   

- basic                         0.15  0.14

- diluted                         0.15  0.14

Statement of comprehensive income

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Net profit  508 462 

Other components of comprehensive income    

Components that can be reclassified to the income statement:    

Change in fair value of cash flow hedge derivatives  (54)  

  

Share of “Other comprehensive income” on equity-accounted entities   (8)

Tax effect  17  

Total other components of comprehensive income, net of tax effect  (37) (8)

Total comprehensive income  471 454

Attributable to:  

 - Snam  471 454

 - Minority shareholders

471 454
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Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

  Snam shareholders’ equity 
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Shareholders’ equity 
at 31 December 2011 3,571  (1,701) 1,988 463 (170) 783 1,188 790 (783) (338) 5,791 1 5,792

Other changes in shareholders’ equity: 
Adjusted shareholders’ equity 
at 1 January 2012 (*)    (1) (1) (1)

Transactions with shareholders:  3,571 (1,701) 1,988 463 (170) 783 1,187 790 (783) (338) 5,790 1 5,791

- Dividend distribution (€0.14 per 
share to balance the 2011 interim 
dividend of €0.10 per share)     35 (56) (790) 338 (473) (473)

- Reclassification to share 
  premium reserve

   
(216) 216

  (216) 251 (56) (790) 338 (473) (473)

Comprehensive income 
for the first half of 2012

    
(37) 508 471 471

Other changes in shareholders’ equity:       

- Impact of Italgas and Stogit 
acquisition   5  5 5

  5  5 5

Shareholders’ equity 
at 30 June 2012 (*) 3,571

 
(1,696) 1,772 714 (207) 783 1,131 508 (783) 5,793 1 5,794

Transactions with shareholders:     

- 2012 interim dividend
(€0.10 per share)

    
(338) (338) (338)

    (338) (338) (338)

Comprehensive income 
for second half 2012 (*)     207 (13) 271 465 465

Other changes in shareholders’ 
equity:

    

- Cancellation of treasury shares     (771) 771

- Impact of Italgas and Stogit   
  acquisition

  
(5)

 
(5) (5)

 (5)  (771) 771 (5) (5)

Shareholders’ equity 
at 31 December 2012 (*) (Note 20) 3,571  (1,701) 1,772 714 (13) 12 1,131 779 (12) (338) 5,915 1 5,916

Transactions with shareholders:  

- Dividend distribution (€0.15 per 
share to balance the 2012 interim 
dividend of €0.10 per share)

   
(455) 389 (779) 338 (507)

(507)

- Disposal of treasury shares 
  for stock option plans

   4 (5) 4 3 3

   (451) (5) 389 (779) 4 338 (504) (504)

Comprehensive income 
for first half 2013

(Note 20)    
(8) 462 454 454

   

Shareholders’ equity 
at 30 June 2013 (Note 20) 3,571  (1,701) 1,321 714 (13) (1) 1,520 462 (8) 5,865 1 5,866 

(*)  The balances as at 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 were restated following the retrospective application of the new provisions of IAS 19. The effects of this are illustrated in Note 1, 
“Basis of presentation and accounting principles”. 
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Statement of cash flows

(€ million) Notes First half 2012 First half 2013

Net profit  508 462

Adjustments for reconciling profit for the period with cash flows from operating activities:   

Amortisation and depreciation (24) 345 376

Equity method valuation effect (26) (24) (35)

Net capital losses (capital gains) on asset sales, cancellations and eliminations   (2)

Interest income  (2) (3)

Interest expense  161 225

Income taxes (27) 362 331

Changes in working capital:   

- Inventories  35 47

- Trade receivables  (431) (56)

- Trade payables  221 133

- Provisions for risks and charges  12 1

- Other assets and liabilities  (26) 118

Working capital cash flows  (189) 243

Change in provisions for employee benefits  1 1

Dividends collected  2 1

Interest collected  3 1

Interest paid  (161) (215)

Income taxes paid net of reimbursed tax credits  (392) (325)

Net cash flow from operating activities  614  1,060

 - of which with related parties (30) 1,136 1,215

Investments:   

- Property, plant and equipment (7) (351) (304)

- Intangible assets (8) (142) (134)

- Companies included in the consolidation scope and business units  (26) (10)

- Change in payables and receivables relating to investments  (186) (139)

Cash flows from investment activities  (705) (587)

Divestments:   

- Property, plant and equipment  27 1

- Intangible fixed assets 9

Cash flows from divestments  27 10

Net cash flows from investment activities  (678) (577)

 - of which with related parties (30) (68) (55)

Taking on long-term financial debt  1,521 1,864

Repaying long-term financial debt  (1,227) (2,147)

Increase (decrease) in short-term financial debt  257 293

  551 10

Net equity capital injections   3

Dividends paid to Snam shareholders  (473) (507)

Net cash flows from financing activities  78 (494)

 - of which with related parties (30) (1,224) (330)

Net cash flow for the period  14 (11)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period  2 15

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  16 4
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Notes to the condensed interim consolidated financial statements

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Snam operates in the regulated activities of transportation, storage, regasification and distribution of natural gas. These 

activities are carried out via its integrated infrastructure in Italy.

The parent company, Snam S.p.A., is an Italian company listed on the Milan Stock Exchange, with its registered office at 

Piazza Santa Barbara 7, San Donato Milanese (MI). At 30 June 2013, Cassa Depositi e Prestiti (CDP), via CDP Reti S.r.l.1, held 

30% of the share capital of Snam S.p.A.

1) Basis of presentation and accounting principles

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with IAS 34, “Interim Financial 

Reporting”. The financial statements are the same as those adopted for the annual report. In the condensed interim 

consolidated financial statements, the same consolidation principles and accounting policies have been used as those used 

to prepare the annual report, except for IFRSs which have entered into force since 1 January 2013, described in the section 

of the 2012 Annual Report on “Accounting standards and interpretations issued by the IASB/IFRIC”. There was no effect 

from the application of these standards, except for the changes to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” approved by the European 

Commission through Regulation (EU) No 475/2012 of 5 June 2012. Among other things, the new rules provide for: (i) the 

obligation to recognise actuarial gains and losses in the statement of comprehensive income, removing the possibility 

of adopting the corridor method. Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are 

not subsequently reported on the income statement; (ii) the representation of the expected return on plan assets and 

the interest cost in a single aggregate known as “net interest”, calculated by applying the discount rate to net defined-

benefit liabilities; and (iii) the obligation to recognise on the income statement the effects arising from changes to plan 

arrangements (“past service costs”) fully in the year in which such changes were made. These new IAS 19 measures, to be 

applied retrospectively as if the changes had always been in place, resulted in the restatement of the balance sheet items as 

at 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 and on the 2012 statement of comprehensive income.

In relation to the Snam Group’s existing defined-benefit plans (severance pay, or TFR, and the supplementary healthcare 

provision for company executives of Eni, or FISDE), the restatement of these balances was as follows: (i) as at 1 January 

2012, an increase of €2 million in employee benefit liabilities and a reduction of €1 million in shareholders’ equity, net of 

tax effect; and (ii) as at 31 December 2012, a total increase of €21 million in employee benefit liabilities and a reduction 

of €14 million in shareholders’ equity, net of tax effect.

The effects of these changes mainly apply to the recognition of unrecognised actuarial gains and losses, which are recorded 

in other components of comprehensive income. 

With regard to the statement of comprehensive income, the changes introduced pursuant to the new version of IAS 1, 

“Presentation of Financial Statements”, came into force on 1 January 2013. The aforementioned amendments make it 

compulsory to group items of comprehensive income together based on the possibility of a subsequent reclassification to 

the income statement, in accordance with the applicable specific IFRS provisions (“reclassification adjustments”). Specifically, 

the statement of comprehensive income must distinguish between two sections: (i) one relating to components of 

comprehensive income that may be subsequently reclassified to the income statement; (ii) another relating to components 

that may not be subsequently reclassified to the income statement. The items of the statement of comprehensive income 

are presented, within the two sections, gross of tax effect, with the tax effect attributable to the items indicated in a 

separate line for each section.

The notes to the financial statements are in condensed form. Current income taxes are calculated by estimating the taxable 

1 CDP Reti S.r.l. is wholly owned by CDP S.p.A.
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income. Receivables and payables for current taxes are recognised based on the amount which is expected to be paid/

recovered to/from the tax authorities under the prevailing tax regulations or those essentially approved at the reporting 

date and the rates estimated on an annual basis.

Consolidated companies, non-consolidated subsidiaries, companies under joint control, associates and other significant equity 

investments, reporting for which is covered by Article 126 of Consob Resolution 11971 of 14 May 1999, as subsequently 

amended, are indicated separately in the appendix “Significant shareholdings, associates and equity investments of Snam at 

30 June 2013”, which is an integral part of these notes.

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2013, approved by the Board of Directors of Snam 

S.p.A. at its meeting of 30 July 2013, have undergone a limited audit by Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A. The limited audit has 

a much smaller scope than a full audit carried out in accordance with established auditing principles.

Given their size, amounts in the financial statements and respective notes are expressed in millions of euros.

2) Use of estimates

For a description of the use of accounting estimates, please see the 2012 Annual Report. 

3) Recently issued IFRS

Regarding the description of recently issued IFRS, in addition to that indicated in the annual report, the major pronouncements 

of the IASB not yet approved by the European Commission are described below.

Accounting standards and interpretations issued by the IASB/IFRIC and approved by the European Commission 

Commission Regulation (EU) No 183/2013 of 4 March 2013 approved the amendments set out in the document 

“Amendments to IFRS 1”, which introduces an exception to the retrospective application of IFRSs for First-time Adopters, 

on the basis of which government loans must be evaluated prospectively, on the transition date, in accordance with the 

provisions of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (IAS 39 for entities that have not yet applied IFRS 9) and IAS 20, “Accounting 

for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance”. The entity may choose to apply the aforementioned 

provisions retrospectively if the information required for such application was available at the time the government loan 

was initially recorded. The new provisions will take effect from financial years starting on or after 1 January 2013. 

Commission Regulation (EU) No 301/2013 of 27 March 2013 approved the amendments set out in the document “Annual 

Improvements to IFRSs 2009 – 2011 Cycle”, which contains changes of an essentially technical and editorial nature to 

international accounting standards. The new provisions will take effect from financial years starting on or after 1 January 

2013. 

Commission Regulation (EU) No 313/2013 of 4 April 2013 approved the amendments set out in the document “Consolidated 

Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance (Amendments 

to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12)”, which provides some clarifications and simplifications of the transition requirements of 

IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. The new measures will take effect from financial years starting on or after 1 January 2014.

Accounting standards and interpretations issued by the IASB/IFRIC and not yet approved by the European 

Commission

On 20 May 2013, the IASB issued “IFRIC 21: Levies”, an interpretation of IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets”, which clarifies that the recognition of a liability for the payment of levies (other than those falling 

under the scope of other standards, such as income taxes pursuant to IAS 12, and other than fines and penalties arising from 

infringements of the law) takes place when the activity that triggers the payment of the levy, as identified by the relevant 

fiscal regulations, takes place.
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On 29 May 2013, the IASB issued the document “Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments 

to IAS 36)”. The amendment concerns disclosure of the recoverable value of assets that have been impaired, where the 

recoverable value is based on the fair value net of sale costs.

 

On 27 June 2013, the IASB issued the document “Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting”, which 

introduces an exception to the requirement for the discontinuation of hedge accounting in circumstances when a hedging 

instrument is required to be novated to a central counterparty as a result of laws or regulations.

According to the IASB, the provisions set out in the aforementioned document shall take effect for financial years beginning on 

or after 1 January 2014. However, since the provisions in question have not yet been approved by the European Commission, 

the date on which they come into effect may be postponed.

CURRENT ASSETS

4) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables of €2,237 million (€2,048 million at 31 December 2012) comprise: 

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Trade receivables 1,921 1,977 

Financial receivables:   

- Held for operations 2 2 

Other receivables 125 258 

 2.048           2.237 

These are reported net of the provision for impairment losses of €48 million (the same as at 31 December 2012).

Trade receivables of €1,977 million (€1,921 million at 31 December 2012) mainly refer to the natural gas transportation 

(€1,001 million), storage (€712 million) and distribution (€252 million) business segments. 

Trade receivables relating to the transportation sector (€1,001 million) include receivables arising from the natural gas 

balancing service (€556 million), in operation since 1 December 2011 pursuant to Electricity and Gas Authority Resolution 

ARG/gas 45/11. Under this measure, the leading natural gas transportation company (Snam Rete Gas), as Balancing 

Supervisor, is responsible for procuring the quantities of gas required to balance the system and offered on the market by 

users through a dedicated platform of the Energy Market Operator, and for financially settling the imbalances of individual 

users by buying and selling gas on the basis of a benchmark unit price (the ‘principle of economic merit’). Although the 

effects of this activity are essentially neutral in terms of the Company’s income statement and it does not receive specific 

compensation for performing this role, the revenue generated by balancing activities in the first half of 2013 and offset in 

costs totalled around €1.1 billion. 

The regulations contain specific clauses guaranteeing the neutrality of the Balancing Supervisor, and they identify the 

Cassa Conguaglio Settore Elettrico (Electricity Equalisation Fund) as the entity ultimately responsible for paying to the 

Balancing Supervisor (i.e. Snam Rete Gas) any sums not collected from users. Specifically, the initial regulation laid down 

by the Electricity and Gas Authority with Resolution ARG/gas 155/11 stated that users had to provide specific guarantees 

to cover their exposure and, where Snam Rete Gas had performed its duties diligently and had not been able to recover 

the costs related to provision of the service, these costs would have been recovered through a special fee determined 

by the Electricity and Gas Authority. This Resolution, with reference to the income statement items pertaining to the 
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balancing system, stipulated that the Balancing Supervisor would receive from the Electricity Equalisation Fund the value of 

receivables unpaid by the end of the month following the month in which notification was given2.

In light of the fact that the Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy provisionally voided this system of guarantees for 

the period between 1 December 2011 and 31 May 20123, some users sold huge quantities of gas and obtained their supplies 

from the balancing market, failing to pay due amounts and therefore building up a significant debt to Snam Rete Gas, which 

had reached around €400 million as at 30 June 20134. 

With Resolution 351/2012/R/gas of 3 August 2012, the Electricity and Gas Authority changed the rules on the repayment 

terms established in Resolution ARG/gas 155/11. Specifically, Resolution 351/2012/R/gas defined the methods for 

recovering receivables pertaining to the balancing system in the period 1 December 2011 - 31 May 2012, ordering payment 

in instalments over a minimum of 36 months and with a maximum monthly payment of €6 million, providing also for 

recognition of the interest accrued in favour of Snam Rete Gas, for which settlement will occur after the nominal amount 

of the receivables has been paid. Snam Rete Gas has initiated all actions necessary for the recovery of receivables relating 

to income statement items pertaining to the balancing system. The Company has also initiated legal proceedings to recover 

receivables from users in arrears after having terminated the relevant transportation contracts due to non-payment.

By way of Resolution 144/2013/E/gas, published on 18 April 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority ended its exploratory 

investigation into balancing service provision methods during the period 1 December 2011 - 23 October 2012, started 

by way of Resolution 282/2012/R/gas. With Resolution 145/2013/R/gas, published on 19 April 2013, the Authority also 

initiated proceedings to determine the share of costs owing to Snam Rete Gas in relation to uncollected receivables relating 

to the balancing income statement entries that arose between 1 December 2011 and 23 October 2012. The duration of the 

proceedings has been set at 180 days, starting from the date of notification of the resolution.

With Resolution 258/2013/R/gas, published on 3 July 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority, pending the determination of 

the share of costs owing to Snam Rete Gas as part of the procedure launched with Resolution 145/2013/R/gas, suspended 

the monthly withdrawal by the Electricity Equalisation Fund, provided for by point 2 of Resolution 351/2012/R/gas, up to 

the amount of the payments already made for the subsequent period until 31 May 2012, with regard to the uncollected 

income statement items pertaining to a shipper. 

Since the Company repaid the amount relating to the aforementioned income statement items to the Electricity Equalisation 

Fund on 28 June 2013, Resolution 258/2013/R/gas did not have any impact on the cash flows paid out by the Fund. 

For the storage business segment in particular, trade receivables (€712 million) mainly relate to fees charged on the use, 

by users, of strategic gas (gas not replenished by those users according to the terms of the Storage Code) which, when 

withdrawn according to the regulatory framework in force, will be paid into the Electricity Equalisation Fund. Under the 

regulatory regime preceding the current rules governing balancing, some users of the storage service made strategic gas 

withdrawals without replacing the amounts withdrawn or paying the fees set out by the Authority, accruing a significant 

debt towards the Company. Considering the current regulatory framework (see Resolution ARG/gas 119/10, Article 10, 

paragraph 5 in Annex A), which leaves the storage company in a neutral position with regard to the effects of the withdrawal 

of strategic gas by users, against fees for the use of strategic gas not replenished, a liability of equal amount was recognised. 

In connection with withdrawals by Stogit users of strategic gas that was not subsequently replenished by said users within 

the time frame provided for by the Storage Code, Stogit has launched a number of actions against the users in question 

since 2011, including legal proceedings. Specifically, in order to recover the sums owed to it, the Company has requested 

and obtained two injunctions, for which the Court has granted provisional enforceability, brought legal proceedings aimed 

at obtaining an order for payment and initiated summary proceedings for the replenishment of the gas withdrawn, which 

the Court has decided to combine with the other proceedings pending between the parties. 

The Court has deferred the hearing to 25 September 2013. 

2 Given to the Electricity Equalisation Fund by the Balancing Supervisor once invoices become four months overdue.

3 The guarantees were reintroduced by Electricity and Gas Authority Resolution 181/2012/R/gas, with effect from 1 June 2012.

4 During the course of 2012, Snam transferred receivables with a nominal value of €300 million without recourse.
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Three companies that owe Stogit in relation to strategic gas withdrawn and not replenished were initially granted an 

arrangement with creditors in September 2012. Subsequently – together with other companies from the same group – they 

were granted another arrangement with creditors, subject to the revocation of the previous arrangement. The creditors are 

due to meet on 1 October 2013.

Trade receivables relating to the storage business segment include the effects of the addition of revenue connected to the 

allocation of natural gas storage capacity by auction5.

Other receivables of €258 million (€125 million at 31 December 2012) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

IRES receivables for national tax consolidation scheme 25 29

Receivables from investment/divestment activities 20 20

Other receivables:   

- Electricity Equalisation Fund 34 96

- Receivables for dividends not yet received  70

- Advances to suppliers 13 13

- Other 33 30

80 209

125 258

Corporate tax (IRES) receivables for the national tax consolidation scheme (€29 million) concern receivables with the 

former parent company, Eni, relating to the IRES refund request resulting from the partial regional production tax (IRAP) 

deduction relating to tax years 2004-2007 (pursuant to Article 6 of Legislative Decree 185 of 28 November 2008, enacted 

by Law 2 of 28 January 2009) and tax years 2007-2011 (pursuant to Legislative Decree 201/2011).

Receivables from investment/divestment activities (€20 million) concern receivables for public and private grants entered 

against investment activities (€12 million) and transfers of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (€8 million).

Receivables from the Electricity Equalisation Fund (€96 million) relate to the natural gas distribution business segment and 

relate mainly to the sale of energy efficiency certificates and accessory tariff components.

Receivables for dividends not yet received (€70 million) relate mainly to the equity investments in A.E.S. S.p.A. (€34 

million) and Toscana Energia S.p.A. (€29 million).

The measurement at fair value of trade and other receivables does not have a significant effect, with the exception of the 

receivable from the Electricity Equalisation Fund in relation to receivables for the natural gas balancing service for the period 

from 1 December 2011 to 31 May 2012, for which measurement at fair value has an effect of €4 million.

All receivables are in euros. Receivables from related parties are described in Note 30, “Related-party transactions”. 

Information on credit risk can be found in the interim directors’ report, under the heading “Elements of risk and uncertainty 

- credit risk”.    

5 With Resolution 121/2013/R/gas, the Electricity and Gas Authority stipulated that each storage company should calculate any difference between 
revenue arising from the allocation of storage capacity through auction and revenue generated by applying to the aforementioned capacity the single 
payments approved with Resolution 313/2012/R/gas. The same resolution provides that, in the event of a negative balance, the Electricity Equalisation 
Fund should provide the amount in question to the storage companies in 12 monthly instalments, starting from June 2013.
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5) Inventories

Inventories of €183 million (€202 million at 31 December 2012) are analysed in the table below:

 31.12.2012 30.06.2013  

(€ million)

Gross 
amount

Impairment 
losses

Net 
amount

Gross 
amount

Impairment 
losses

Net 
amount Change

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 147 (6) 141 126 (6) 120 (21)

Finished products and merchandise 61  61 63  63 2 

 208 (6) 202 189 (6) 183 (19)

 

Inventories of raw materials, consumables and supplies (€120 million) primarily include: (i) natural gas used for transportation 

activities (€55 million); and (ii) stock materials relating to the pipeline network (€41 million) and the distribution network 

(€14 million).

The inventories of finished products and merchandise (€63 million) refer to the natural gas present in the storage system 

(751 million standard cubic metres compared with 759 million cubic metres at 31 December 2012) and do not include 

compulsory inventories, recognised under non-current assets on the balance sheet.

Inventories are stated net of the provision for impairment losses of €6 million (unchanged from 31 December 2012), set up 

to account for slow-moving materials.

Inventories are not collateralised. Inventories do not secure liabilities, nor are they recognised at net realisation value.

6) Other current assets

Other current assets of €84 million (€115 million at 31 December 2012) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Accrued income from regulated activities 78 39 

 78 39 

Other current assets:   

- Prepayments 37 45 

 37 45 

 115 84 

Accrued income from regulated activities of €39 million relates mainly to: (i) the current portion of natural gas transportation 

revenue invoiced below the restriction established by the Regulator (€33 million); and (ii) the current portion (€5 million) 

of the assets recorded against the recognition by the Electricity and Gas Authority of additional expenses borne during the 

second regulatory period (1 October 2005 - 31 December 2009) for the purchase of fuel gas used in the transportation 

businesso6.

Prepayments (€45 million) refer mainly to the current portion of repayments on up-front fees and substitute tax on 

revolving credit lineso7 (€30 million) and to insurance premiums (€12 million).

6 The recognition of such assets follows Resolutions VIS 8/09, ARG/gas 184/09 and ARG/gas 218/10, whereby the Electricity and Gas Authority recognised 
the additional expenses borne by the Company respectively in the 2005-2006 and 2006-2007 thermal years (€45 million overall), the 2007-2008 
thermal year (€34 million) and the period from 1 October 2008 - 31 December 2009 (€55 million). Pursuant to Article 6 of Resolution ARG/gas 184/09, 
the recognition of the additional costs is subject to equalisation with the users through tariff adjustment: (i) from 1 January 2010 for the additional costs 
sustained in thermal years 2005-2006, 2006-2007 and 2007-2008; and (ii) from 1 January 2011 for the additional costs sustained by the Company in 
the period 1 October 2008 - 31 December 2009.

7 Up-front fees and substitute tax are to be regarded as “transaction costs” pursuant to IAS 39; the relative charges are spread over the (expected) life of 
the financial instrument. 
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS

7) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment of €14,543 million (€14,522 million at 31 December 2012) comprise:
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Property, plant and equipment 20,439  (5,917) 14,522 334  (264)  (2)  (47) 14,543 20,719  (6,176)

(*)  Including impairment losses of €12 million.

Investments during the period amounted to €334 million8 (€356 million in the first half of 2012) and mainly refer to the 

natural gas transportation (€227 million) and storage (€102 million) business segments.

Other changes (-€47 million) relate essentially to: (i) grants for the period (-€14 million); (ii) revised estimates of site 

dismantling and restoration costs in the natural gas storage segment (-€15 million) owing to higher expected discount 

rates; and (iii) the change in the stock of pipes purchased for investment and not yet employed in the construction of plants 

(-€15 million).

Contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment, and the goods and services related to their 

construction, are disclosed in Note 22, “Guarantees, commitments and risks”.

8 For further information on investments for the period, see the “Business segment operating performance” section of the interim directors’ report.
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Property, plant and equipment by business segment

Property, plant and equipment (€14,543 million) are broken down by business segment as follows: 

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Gross property, plant and equipment   

Business segments   

- Transportation 16,829 17,020

- Regasification 132 133

- Storage 2,982 3,068

- Distribution 483 485

- Corporate 13 13

Total 20,439 20,719

Provision for amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses   

- Transportation (4,876) (5,096) 

- Regasification (43) (47) 

- Storage (717) (747) 

- Distribution (271) (276) 

- Corporate (10) (10) 

Total (5,917) (6,176) 

Net property, plant and equipment   

- Transportation 11,953 11,924

- Regasification 89 86

- Storage 2,265 2,321

- Distribution 212 209

- Corporate 3 3

 14,522 14,543

8) Intangible assets

Intangible assets of €4,616 million (€4,593 million at 31 December 2012) comprise: 
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Intangible assets:          

 - With a finite useful life 7,485  (2,901) 4,584 156  (112)  (6) (15) 4,607 7,612 (3,005)

 - With an indefinite useful life 9  9     9 9  

7,494 (2,901) 4,593 156 (112) (6) (15) 4,616 7,621 (3,005)

(*)  Including impairment losses of €1 million.
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Intangible assets with a finite useful life (€4,607 million) mainly concern: (i) assets recognised in relation to concession 

agreements pursuant to IFRIC 12 relating to the natural gas distribution business segment (€3,788 million); and (ii) 

concessions for natural gas storage (€655 million).

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life consist only of goodwill recognised following the acquisition by Italgas of 

100% of the shares of Siciliana Gas (€9 million).

For the purposes of calculating recoverable value, goodwill has been allocated to the cash generating unit consisting of 

natural gas distribution activities. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was estimated by equity/income 

type valuations with reference to the value of the asset recognised for tariff purposes (RAB – regulated asset base), as well 

as to additional income components deriving from the regulation. This amount is greater than the carrying amount of the 

cash generating unit.

Investments in intangible assets of €156 million (€168 million in the first half of 2012) mainly relate to: (i) the construction 

and upgrading of natural gas distribution infrastructure (€130 million); and (ii) internal projects for IT system development 

(€22 million).

Other changes (-€15 million) relate essentially to: (i) grants for the period (-€23 million); and (ii) the acquisition, through 

calls for tenders, of the natural gas distribution concessions being awarded (+€10 million).

Existing contractual commitments for the purchase of intangible assets, and of services related to their development, are 

disclosed in Note 22, “Guarantees, commitments and risks”.

9) Equity-accounted investments

Equity-accounted investments of €430 million (€473 million at 31 December 2012) comprise:
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Equity-accounted investments 473 35 (8) (70) 430

473 35 (8) (70) 430

Capital gains from measurement using the equity method of €35 million relate to Azienda Energia e Servizi Torino S.p.A. 

(€19 million), Toscana Energia S.p.A. (€11 million), and GasBridge 1 B.V. and GasBridge 2 B.V. (€4 million).

Investments in subsidiaries, companies under joint control and associates can be found in the appendix “Significant 

shareholdings, associates and equity investments of Snam at 30 June 2013”, which is an integral part of these notes.
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10) Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets of €165 million (€130 million at 31 December 2012) break down as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Accrued income from regulated activities 54 97 

Other non-current assets:   

- Prepayments 67 49 

- Security deposits 6 7 

- Other assets 3 12 

76 68 

130 165 

Accrued income from regulated activities (€97 million) relates mainly to the non-current portion of natural gas transportation 

revenue invoiced below the restriction established by the Regulator (€93 million) and assets recorded against the recognition 

by the Electricity and Gas Authority of additional expenses borne during the second regulatory period (1 October 2005 - 31 

December 2009) for the purchase of fuel gas used in the transportation business (€3 million).

Prepayments (€49 million) refer mainly to the current portion of repayments on up-front fees and substitute tax on 

revolving credit lines (€48 million).

11) Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities

Assets held for sale of €23 million (unchanged from 31 December 2012) concern property owned by Italgas, for which sales 

negotiations are under way following the commitments arising from the Italgas purchase agreement with Eni.

Liabilities directly related with assets held for sale of €8 million (unchanged from 31 December 2012) include environmental 

provisions for expenses involved in the property’s restoration.

 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

12) Short-term financial liabilities

Short-term financial liabilities of €798 million (€505 million at 31 December 2012) are denominated entirely in euros and 

relate to lines of credit with banks (€793 million).

The market value of short-term financial liabilities is the same as their book value.

As at 30 June 2013, Snam had unused uncommitted credit lines worth €40 million.

There were no breaches of loan agreements at the reporting date.

13) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables of €1,517 million (€1,477 million at 31 December 2012) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Trade payables 764 897

Payables for investments 406 267

Other payables 307 353

1,477 1,517



74

Snam half-year Report 2013

Snam Condensed interim consolidated financial statements / Notes

Trade receivables of €897 million (€764 million at 31 December 2012) relate mainly to the natural gas transportation 

(€526 million, including €450 million relating to gas balancing activities), distribution (€189 million) and storage (€141 

million) business segments.

Payables for investment activities of €267 million (€406 million at 31 December 2012) refer mainly to the natural gas 

transportation (€149 million), distribution (€44 million) and storage (€46 million) business segments.

Other payables of €353 million (€307 million at 31 December 2012) break down as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

IRES payables for national tax consolidation scheme 7  

Other payables:   

- Payables to the Electricity Equalisation Fund 179 233

- Payables to employees 46 37

- Payables to pension and social security institutions 29 30

- Payables to the government 9 30

- Payments on account and advances 5 5

- Other 32 18

300 353

307 353

Payables to the Electricity Equalisation Fund (€233 million) relate to accessory tariff components relating mainly to the 

natural gas transportation (€164 million), distribution (€43 million) and storage (€26 million) business segments. Amounts 

received from Snam are paid in full to the Electricity Equalisation Fund.

Payables to the government (€30 million) primarily involve payables to municipalities for concession fees for the distribution 

business.

The fair value measurement of trade and other payables has no material impact given the short period of time between 

when the payable arises and its due date.

Note 30 “Related-party transactions” contains information about payables due to related parties.

14) Current income tax liabilities and other current tax liabilities

Current income tax liabilities of €97 million (€46 million as at 31 December 2012) relate to: (i) IRES (€76 million); (ii) IRAP 

(€11 million); and (iii) additional IRES (the “Robin Hood Tax”) in relation to the natural gas transportation and distribution 

business segments (€10 million).

Other current tax liabilities of €48 million (€28 million at 31 December 2012) mainly relate to deferred VAT payables to be 

paid to public authorities (€38 million) and IRPEF (personal income tax) withholdings for employees (€9 million).

15) Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities of €147 million (€218 million at 31 December 2012) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Prepaid income from regulated activities 160 112

Other current liabilities:   

- Deferred and prepaid revenue and income 58 35

 218 147
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Prepaid income from regulated activities of €112 million relates to: (i) the transportation business segment (€71 million) 

and concerns the short-term portion of revenue invoiced in excess of the restriction established by the Electricity and Gas 

Authority, and penalties charged to users who exceeded the committed capacity; this amount is to be returned through 

tariff adjustments pursuant to Resolution 166/05; and (ii) the natural gas storage business segment (€41 million) and 

concerns payments for balancing and stock replenishment, which are to be returned to service users based on the provisions 

of Resolution 50/06 of the Electricity and Gas Authority.

Other liabilities (€35 million) relate mainly to the current portion (€29 million) of the higher quantities of fuel gas 

allocated by users in 2012 pursuant to Resolution ARG/gas 184/09 compared with the quantities actually used in that year, 

which will be equalised in the next year by reducing the quantities allocated by users.

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

16) Long-term financial liabilities and short-term portions of long-term liabilities

Long-term financial liabilities, including the short-term portions, of €11,766 million (€12,049 million at 31 December 

2012) comprise: 

31.12.2012 30.06.2013

(€ million)
Short-term 

portion
Long-term 

portion Total
Short-term 

portion
Long-term 

portion Total

Banks 29 5,972 6,001 104 4,055 4,159

Ordinary bonds 81 5,965 6,046 145 7,460 7,605

Other financial backers 2 2 1 1 2

 110 11,939 12,049 250 11,516 11,766

Financial liabilities to banks (€4,159 million) mainly refer to: (i) revolving lines of credit (€3,356 million); (ii) matured 

loans awarded by the Cassa Depositi e Prestiti – CDP – funded by the European Investment Bank (€403 million) and 

loans awarded directly by the European Investment Bank (€300 million).

Financial liabilities to banks are all at floating rate, with the corresponding market value taken as the nominal repayment value.

At 30 June 2013, Snam had revolving lines of credit committed but not drawn down for approximately €3.5 billion. There 

were no breaches of loan agreements at the reporting date.

Snam obtained medium- to long-term loans from a pool of national and international banks. Some bilateral loan 

agreements were also entered into with these banks. The main medium- to long-term financial payables are also subject, 

inter alia, to the usual covenants imposed in international market practice, e.g. financial covenants and negative pledge, 

pari passu and change of control clauses.

Specifically, the pool loans and most of the bilateral loans are subject, inter alia, to:

- a financial covenant stipulating compliance by Snam with a set ratio of consolidated net financial debt and adjusted 

RAB, as defined in the loan agreements;

- a negative pledge covenant pursuant to which Snam and the Group subsidiaries cannot pledge real property rights or 

otherwise bind all or part of the respective assets, shares or merchandise, and/or documents representing merchandise; 

this covenant is subject to set expiry dates and to exceptions on restrictions whose creation and/or existence is explicitly 

permitted.
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Snam has also stipulated long-term loan agreements with Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A. funded by the European Investment 

Bank, maturing in 2032, and has a loan directly awarded by the European Investment Bank, maturing in 2029. These loans 

are subject to obligations in line with international market practices, except for the financial covenant, which is not required 

by the EIB loan.

At 30 June 2013, the financial liabilities subject to these restrictive clauses amounted to approximately €4.4 billion.

Failure to comply with the covenants established for these loans – in some cases only when this non-compliance is not 

remedied within a set time period – and the occurrence of other events, such as cross-default events, some of which are 

subject to specific threshold values, may result in Snam’s failure to comply and could trigger the early repayment of the 

relative loan.

As part of the optimisation of its own financing programme, in the first half of 2013 Snam issued two bond loans for 

a nominal value of €1 billion and €500 million respectively, and provided for the early repayment of a pool loan from 

third-party banks for a nominal amount of €1,500 million, whose natural expiry was scheduled for 2017. Snam also partly 

reduced the use of revolving lines of credit relating to bilateral loans with third-party banks for a total nominal amount of 

€350 million.

Bonds, worth a nominal €7,500 million, refer to securities issued under the Euro Medium Term Notes programme.

The following table provides a breakdown of bond loans by issuer and currency, showing the maturity date and rate of 

interest:

Bond issues
Euro Medium Term Notes

      

(€ million) 

Issuing company Currency
Notional 
amount

Issue discount 
and accrued 

interest Total
Fixed rate 

(F) Maturity

Snam S.p.A.       

Snam S.p.A.  € 1,500  7  1,507 3.875 2018

Snam S.p.A.  € 1,000  33  1,033 5.25 2022

Snam S.p.A.  € 1,000  18  1,018 5 2019

Snam S.p.A.  € 1,000  39  1,039 4.375 2016

Snam S.p.A.  € 1,000 (5)  995 2.375 2017

Snam S.p.A.  € 750  5  755 3.5 2020

Snam S.p.A.  € 750  7  757 2 2015

Snam S.p.A.  € 500  1  501 3.375 2021

7,500  105  7,605   

The market value of the bond loans, calculated using official listed prices at balance-sheet date, is approximately €7.9 

billion.

The covenants set for the programme’s securities reflect international market practices and relate, inter alia, to negative 

pledge and pari passu clauses. Specifically, under the negative pledge clause Snam and the relative subsidiaries cannot 

create or maintain restrictions on all or part of their own goods or inflows to guarantee present or future debt, unless this 

is explicitly permitted.

Failure to comply with these covenants – in some cases only when this non-compliance is not remedied within a set time 

period – and the occurrence of other events, such as cross-default events, some of which are subject to specific threshold 

values, may result in Snam’s failure to comply and could trigger the early repayment of the relative loan.

In the first half of 2013, all the contractually required verifications of the financial covenants confirmed compliance.
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Below are details on net financial debt showing related-party transactions.

 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

(€ million) Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

A. Cash and cash equivalents 15  15 4  4 

B. Securities not held for operations       

C. Cash (A+B) 15  15 4  4 

D. Financial receivables not held for operations       

E. Short-term financial liabilities to banks 364  364 793  793 

F. Long-term financial liabilities to banks 27 5,572 5,599 101 3,655 3,756 

G. Bonds 81 5,965 6,046 145 7,460 7,605 

H. Short-term financial liabilities to related parties 141  141 5  5 

I. Long-term financial liabilities to related parties 2 400 402 3 400 403 

L. Other short-term financial liabilities       

M. Other long-term financial liabilities  2 2 1 1 2 

N. Gross financial debt (E+F+G+H+I+L+M) 615 11,939 12,554 1,048 11,516 12,564 

O. Net financial debt (N-C-D) 600 11,939 12,539 1,044 11,516 12,560 

17) Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions for risks and charges of €748 million (€757 million at 31 December 2012) are analysed in the table below:
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Provision for site dismantlement and restoration 439 (17)  6 (2)  426

Provision for environmental risk and charges 134 8 2 1 (2)  143

Provision for litigation 76  1  (1) (6) 70

Other provisions 108  7  (6)  109

 757 (9) 10 7 (11) (6) 748

The provision for site dismantlement and restoration (€426 million) was recognised primarily due to expenses which are 

expected to be borne for the removal of natural gas storage facilities and for site restoration (€362 million). Changes in 

estimates (-€17 million) mainly relate to the revision of the estimated costs of withdrawing from and restoring natural gas 

storage sites due to higher expected discount rates (€15 million).

The provision for environmental risk and charges (€143 million) mainly included costs for environmental soil reclamation, 

which is required under Law 471/1999 as amended, primarily for the disposal of solid waste, related to the distribution 

business.

Other provisions (€109 million) relate essentially to: (i) probable costs arising from trade balancing in respect of counterparty 

risks relating to the entry of new operators to the natural gas market (€40 million) and (ii) costs recorded to offset the 

item covering changes in inventories resulting from the difference between estimated quantities of Unaccounted-For Gas 

(UFG), which is to be recorded in 2013 and 2014, and the amounts to be allocated in kind by users as required to cover the 

quantities of UFG for the same period (€37 million).
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18) Deferred tax liabilities

(€ million) 31.12.2012 Provisions Utilisations Other changes 30.06.2013

Deferred tax liabilities                 1,347 13 (49) 18            1,329 

Prepaid tax assets (*)  (520) (24) 22 (17)  (539)

 827 (11)  (27) 1               790 

(*)  The figures recorded at 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 were restated following the retrospective application of the new provisions of IAS 19. The effects of this restatement are 
described in Note 1 (“Basis of presentation and accounting principles”).

Deferred tax liabilities of €790 million (€827 million at 31 December 2012) are stated net of offsettable deferred tax assets 

of €539 million (€520 million at 31 December 2012). There are no prepaid tax assets which cannot be offset.19) Other 

non-current liabilities.

19) Other non current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities of €748 million (€624 million at 31 December 2012) comprise:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Prepaid income from regulated activities 281 290 

   

Other non-current liabilities:   

- Deferred and prepaid revenue and income 314 312

- Prepaid contributions for connecting to the transportation network 3 3

- Other liabilities 26 143

343 458

624 748

Prepaid income from regulated activities (€290 million) relates to: (i) the non-current portion of payments for balancing and 

stock replenishment invoiced in 2012 (€165 million) to be returned to service users based on the provisions of Resolution 

50/06 of the Electricity and Gas Authority, and (ii) the non-current portion of transportation revenue invoiced in excess of 

the restriction established by the Regulator and penalties charged to service users that exceeded the committed capacity 

(€125 million); this amount is to be adjusted based on the provisions of Resolution 166/05 of the Electricity and Gas 

Authority.

Deferred and prepaid revenue and income (€312 million) refers to: (i) fees for the use of strategic gas withdrawn and not 

replenished by users under the terms of the Storage Code (€295 million); and (ii) the non-current portion of the prepaid fee 

for the concession to use fibre optic cables given to a telecommunications operator (€17 million).

Other liabilities (€143 million) relate essentially to: (i) security deposits paid as a guarantee to users of the balancing 

service included in the natural gas transportation service (€75 million), pursuant to Resolution ARG/gas 45/11; and (ii) the 

non-current portion (€61 million) of the excess quantities of fuel gas allocated by users of the natural gas transportation 

service in 2012 and 2013, pursuant to Authority Resolution ARG/gas 184/09, compared with the quantities actually used.
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20) Shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity of €5,866 million at 30 June 2013 (€5,916 million at 31 December 2012) breaks down as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Snam shareholders’ equity (*)   

Share capital 3,571 3,571

Legal reserve 714 714

Share premium reserve 1,772 1,321

Consolidation reserve (1,701) (1,701)

Other reserves 12 (1)

Retained earnings (*) 1,131 1,520

Reserve for remeasurement of employee benefit plans, IAS 19 (*) (13) (13)

Net profit 779 462

Less:   

- Treasury shares (12) (8)

- Interim dividend (338)  

 5,915 5,865

Capital and reserves attributable to minority interests  

Napoletanagas 1 1

5,916 5,866

(*)  The figures recorded at 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 were restated following the retrospective application of the new provisions of IAS 19. The effects of this restatement are 
described in Note 1 (“Basis of presentation and accounting principles”).

Share capital

The share capital as at 30 June 2013 consisted of 3,381,638,294 shares (unchanged from 31 December 2012), with a total 

value of €3,571,187,994 (unchanged from 31 December 2012).

Legal reserve

The legal reserve stood at €714 million at 30 June 2013 (unchanged from 31 December 2012).

Share premium reserve

The share premium reserve at 30 June 2013 totalled €1,321 million (€1,772 at 31 December 2012). The decrease of €451 

million mainly reflects the payment of the balance of the dividend on 2012 profit by the issuer, Snam S.p.A. (€455 million).

Consolidation reserve

The negative consolidation reserve of €1,701 million (unchanged from 31 December 2012) includes the value derived 

from the difference between the acquisition cost of the Italgas and Stogit shareholdings (€4,628 million, including the 

additional transaction expenses and price adjustment following the agreements reached at transaction closing) and the 

relative shareholders’ equity attributable to the Group on the transaction completion date (€2,004 million and €923 million, 

respectively, for Italgas and Stogit).

Other reserves

Other reserves for -€1 million (€12 million at 31 December 2012) mainly refer to: (i) the reserve created for the cost of 

1,924,050 treasury shares in the portfolio (€8 million); and (ii) the reserve relating to foreign exchange differences at the end 

of the period on shareholdings valued at equity and denominated in currencies other than the euro (-€8 million).
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Retained earnings

Retained earnings totalled €1,520 million (€1,131 million at 31 December 2012) and rose by €389 million, due essentially 

to the allocation of 2012 retained earnings.

Reserve for remeasurement of employee benefit plans, IAS 19

The reserve for employee benefit plans was created after the amendments to international accounting standard IAS 19 

“Employee Benefits” (-€13 million), which came into effect on 1 January 2013. The reserve includes unrecognised actuarial 

gains and losses, recorded under other components of comprehensive income, after the relative tax deduction.

Treasury shares

At 30 June 2013, Snam had a total of 1,924,050 treasury shares (compared with 2,906,550 at 31 December 2012), 

equivalent to 0.09% of its share capital. The total cost was €8 million, corresponding to an average unit purchase price of 

approximately €4.2.

At 30 June 2013, the Company had commitments to grant 1,538,850 shares under stock option plans.

The market value of treasury shares at the end of the first half of 2013 was approximately €7 million9.

Dividends

The shareholders of Snam S.p.A. authorised the distribution of an ordinary dividend of €0.15 per share at the Ordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 March 2013 to pay the balance of the interim 2012 dividend of €0.10 per share. The remaining 

dividend (€507 million) was paid from 23 May 2013, with an ex-dividend date of 20 May 2013.

For the current year, at its meeting of 30 July 2013, the Board of Directors prepared the report in accordance with Article 

2433-bis, paragraph 5 of the Italian Civil Code and, subject to the approval of the independent auditors, will be called on to 

authorise the payment of an interim dividend of €0.10 per share, excluding treasury shares held on the ex-dividend date, to 

be drawn from 2013 profits with payment from 24 October 2013 and an ex-dividend date of 21 October 2013.

21) Other information

At 30 June 2013, 1,538,850 options existed (2,521,350 option rights at 31 December 2012), to purchase 1,538,850 ordinary 

shares of Snam10.

9 Calculated by multiplying the number of treasury shares by the official share price at 30 June 2013 (€3.48 per share).

10 For more information, please see the “Other information” section of the directors’ report.



81

Snam half-year Report 2013

Snam Condensed interim consolidated financial statements / Notes

22) Guarantees, commitments and risks

Guarantees, commitments and risks of €4,585 million (€6,107 million at 31 December 2012) comprise:

 31.12.2012 30.06.2013 

(€ million)

Other 
personal 

guarantees
Commitments 

and risks Total

Other 
personal 

guarantees
Commitments 

and risks Total

Other personal guarantees given 
on its own behalf:       

- Subsidiaries (*) 130  130 125 125

- Associates and companies under joint control 21  21 14 14

- Other    

 151  151 139 139

Commitments    

Commitments for the purchase of goods and services  2,082 2,082 2,141 2,141

Commitments to make equity investments  89 89 89 89

Other  1 1 3 3

  2,172 2,172 2,233 2,233

Risks:      

- Third-party assets on deposit  3,402 3,402 1,814 1,814

- Litigation  382 382 399 399

 3,784 3,784 2,213 2,213

151 5,956 6,107 139 4,446 4,585

(*)  At 30 June 2013, hold-harmless letters issued to Eni in favour of Snam amounted to €12 million. 

Other personal guarantees issued in the interest of subsidiaries (€125 million) refer mainly to hold-harmless letters issued 

in favour of third parties for participation in tenders and concessions relating to the natural gas distribution service (€70 

million) and performance bonds (€48 million).

Other personal guarantees issued in the interest of associates and companies under joint control (€14 million) mainly refer 

to hold-harmless letters issued to guarantee an EIB loan obtained by Interconnector UK, an investee company of GasBridge 

1 B.V. and GasBridge 2 B.V.

Commitments

At 30 June 2013, commitments with suppliers to purchase property, plant and equipment and provide services relating to 

investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets under construction totalled €2,141 million (€2,082 

million at 31 December 2012).

Commitments to make equity investments (€89 million) relate to the framework agreement signed with Acegas-Aps for 

the creation of a joint venture to manage natural gas distribution activities in regions within the provinces of north-east 

Italy. For further details on the transaction, please see the section “Development in Italian gas distribution” on page 21 of 

the Snam 2012 Annual Report. Developments in the first half of 2013 are described in the section “Natural gas distribution” 

in the interim directors’ report at 30 June 2013.

Risks

Risks related to third-party assets on deposit, equal to €1,814 million (€3,402 million at 31 December 2012) relate to about 

4.6 billion cubic metres of natural gas deposited in the storage plants by customers of the service (8.2 billion cubic metres at 

31 December 2012). This amount was determined by applying the estimated unit repurchase cost of approximately €0.39 
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per standard cubic metre (€0.42 at 31 December 2012) to the quantities of gas deposited.

Risks related to compensation and litigation (€399 million) relate to possible (but not probable) claims for compensation 

arising from ongoing litigation, with a low probability that the pertinent economic risk will arise.  

Financial risk management 

The management and monitoring policies for key risk factors are described in the “Risk factors and uncertainty” section of 

the interim directors’ report.

Market value of financial instruments

At 30 June 2013, Snam did not hold any financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value. Information on the market value 

of financial instruments is provided in the notes to the individual items.

LITIGATION

Snam is involved in civil, administrative and criminal cases and legal actions related to its normal business activities. The 

following describes the most significant proceedings for which significant changes from the situation reported in the 2012 

Annual Report occurred; unless indicated otherwise, no allocation has been made for the litigation described below because 

the Company believes it improbable that these proceedings will have an unfavourable outcome or because the amount of the 

allocation cannot be reliably estimated.

Penal cases

Italgas S.p.A. - Judiciary investigations into gas metering

In May 2007 Italgas received notice of a local search and seizure proceeding within the framework of case no 11183/06 RGNR 

brought by the public prosecutor of the Milan district court. The document was also served upon the Chairman of the company. 

The charge alleged unlawful conduct starting in 2003 relating to the use of gas metering equipment, the payment of excise 

duties, the billing of customers and relations with the supervisory authority.

Among other things, the charges relate to offences established in Legislative Decree 231 of 8 June 2001, which provides 

for administrative liability of a company for crimes committed by its employees in the interest or to the advantage of the 

company itself.

In December 2010 a notice of conclusion of preliminary investigations was received relating only to the specific matter 

of using Venturi-type metering equipment installed in various Milan municipalities, at the connection stations between the 

national natural gas transportation networks and the local natural gas distribution networks. It should be noted that the public 

prosecutor of Milan presented (under the scope of case no 11183/06) a Request for Dismissal.

At the same time it was learnt that the Milan public prosecutor transferred the jurisdiction of the prosecution relating to the 

metering systems installed in the province of Monza (alleged violation pursuant to Article 472 of the Italian Criminal Code) to 

the Monza public prosecutor (criminal case no 14477/10 RG NR).

On 14 June 2012, following an application filed by the public prosecutor, the preliminary investigations judge at the Milan 

district court dismissed the case against the then Chairman of the company concerning the use of Venturi-type metering 

equipment installed in various Milan municipalities, whilst at the same time providing for the documents to be sent to the 

Prefecture of Milan, which was responsible for issuing administrative fines. The preliminary investigations judge also provided 

for the aforementioned metering lines to be released from seizure.

The criminal case relating to metering systems installed in the province of Monza (alleged violation pursuant to Article 472 of 

the Italian Criminal Code) was transferred to the jurisdiction of the Monza public prosecutor. On 8 June 2013, the preliminary 

investigations judge dismissed the proceedings.
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Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. - Judiciary investigations into gas metering

The public prosecutor at the Milan district court has commenced a criminal case on the issue of gas metering and the 

legitimacy and reliability of what are referred to as the Venturi meters. This has involved several companies in the gas sector.

Snam Rete Gas and some of its managers were also involved in the case and the Mazara del Vallo metering system was 

placed under precautionary seizure; the company is under investigation pursuant to Articles 24 and 25-ter of Legislative 

Decree 231/2001.

In November 2009, notice of conclusion of preliminary investigations was received, within the context of the aforementioned 

broader criminal case relating to the gas metering system, concerning a matter pertaining particularly to tax issues deemed 

of a criminal nature.

Some managers and department heads (including some no longer employed by the company) are under investigation with 

regard to various matters.

The period under investigation is a time span that, in total, covers the years from 2003 to 2007, relating primarily to annual 

natural gas consumption reports and to assessment and/or payment of excise duties on natural gas, as well as to possible 

obstruction of supervisory duties.

On 31 May 2011 the public prosecutor at the Milan district court put forward a request for dismissal pursuant to Article 425 

of the Italian Code of Criminal Procedure in relation to indictment no 6 of the request to trial.

The act refers specifically to disputed offices under Articles 472 and 110 of the Italian Criminal Code with regard to certain 

Snam managers and the subject of the request for dismissal relating to the CEO.

On 5 October 2011 the public prosecutor of Milan presented a further request to the judge at the preliminary hearing not 

to proceed, with regard to the CEO, with reference to the disputed violation of the provisions in Article 2638, paragraph 2 

of the Italian Civil Code, restricted to the failed notification of the Electricity and Gas Authority as per Resolution 137/02, 

Article 7, paragraph 4, letter b.

At the outcome of the preliminary hearing held on 24 January 2012, the preliminary hearing judge did not find the existence 

of facts to support the case and acquitted all the Snam S.p.A. and Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. (or former Snam Rete Gas S.p.A.) 

employees/managers with regard to all counts which were the subject of this dispute.

The assistant public prosecutor has filed for an appeal before the Court of Cassation at the Milan district court. The appeal 

relates to only some of the acquitted defendants.

On 11 February 2013, the Court of Cassation partially annulled the sentence applied only to the violation of Article 40, 

paragraph 1, letter b) of Legislative Decree 504/95. A new preliminary hearing must therefore take place.

The Court also rejected the public prosecutor’s appeal. The assumptions of violation pursuant to Article 472, paragraphs 1 

and 2, and Article 2638, paragraph 1, of the Italian Civil Code, were therefore cancelled (and, as a result, the assumption of 

violation of Legislative Decree 231/2001).  

Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. - Criminal proceeding no 7448/11RGRN

The preliminary investigations judge at the Florence district court had set a date of 4 July 2012 for the preliminary hearing 

in relation to the proceedings pursuant to Article 589 of the Italian Criminal Code in connection with the death of a farmer 

on his property in Lastra a Signa (FI) on 20 July 2008. The proceedings were then dismissed at the preliminary hearing of 

16 April 2013.

Electricity and Gas Authority

Snam Rete Gas S.p.A. - Exploratory investigation into procedures for provision of the gas balancing service and Measures 

regarding the management of withdrawals from the Electricity Equalisation Fund, in respect of payments for the gas 

balancing service

Information on the balancing service and updates to the Electricity and Gas Authority’s measures are provided in Note 4 

(“Trade and other receivables”).
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Italgas S.p.A. – Investigation into breaches with regard to information flows relating to gas metering data

With Resolution VIS 73/11 published on 18 July 2011 and notified to Italgas on 16 September 2011, the Electricity and Gas 

Authority commenced proceedings against three distribution companies, including Italgas, to investigate an alleged breach of 

provisions on information flows caused by attempts to collect metering data in the sellers’ favour, impose the relevant fines 

and adopt the necessary prescriptive actions.

On 20 December 2012, Italgas S.p.A. was notified of the results of the investigation carried out under the proceedings in 

question, which revealed a failure by the company to comply with the deadline for providing metering data to all sellers. 

Specifically, according to the Authority, Italgas S.p.A. did not comply with rules aimed at safeguarding a significant interest, such 

as the interest in the orderly and efficient performance of sellers’ activities, which affected the timely and definite invoicing of 

end customers.

The disputed violation has not completely ceased to date. Due to the results of the investigation, Italgas filed a deposition on 

16 January 2013.

On 28 March 2013, with Resolution 134/2013/S/gas, the Electricity and Gas Authority ruled that Italgas had committed a 

violation, imposing a fine of €58,000. The company paid this within the prescribed deadline.

The Company decided to use the provisions for risks that it had set aside in its financial statements.

Stogit S.p.A. - Resolutions 91/2013/S/gas

With this resolution, published on 7 March 2013, the Electricity and Gas Authority initiated proceedings for the adoption of 

prescriptive measures against Speia S.p.A. and Stogit S.p.A. in relation to possible anomalies in the management of withdrawals 

of strategic gas reserves in the 2010-2011 thermal year for storage.

The proceedings in question began with the survey that was launched with Resolutions 282/2012/R/gas and 444/2012/R/gas, 

defined through Resolution 144/2013/E/gas of 5 April 2013, relating to anomalies recorded on the balancing market during 

the period from 1 December 2011 to 23 October 2012, and the need for an in-depth investigation, to be conducted with full 

respect for the right of both companies to defend themselves.

The purpose of the proceedings is to ascertain the facts concerning withdrawals of strategic gas by Speia during the 2010 

thermal year for storage and for the Authority to adopt prescriptive measures to protect one company or the other under 

combined sanctions, in derogation of the regulations in force and in order to avoid irregular expense and consequences for 

end customers. The above is without prejudice to the Authority’s right to intervene, pending the completion of the procedure, 

by means of protective precautionary measures in relation to any qualifying legal situations that may arise as part of the 

investigation. The duration of the investigation has been set at 120 days, starting from the date of notification of the resolution. 

The final order must be adopted within 45 days of the notification of the investigation results.

On 20 May 2013, Stogit appeared before the body in charge of the proceeding for a hearing.



85

Snam half-year Report 2013

Snam Condensed interim consolidated financial statements / Notes

23) Revenue

The key items comprising revenue are described below. The reasons for material differences are described in the “Financial 

review” section of the interim directors’ report.

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Core business revenue 1,791                     1,839 

Other revenue and income 72                          66 

 1,863                     1,905 

Core business revenue (€1,839 million) is reported net of the following items:

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Additional fees for the distribution service 128 184

Additional fees for the transportation service:   

- GS
T
 and RE

T
 fees referred to in Resolutions ARG/com 93/10 and ARG/gas 177/10 (*) 94 166

- CVBL fee provided for by Resolution ARG/gas 155/11(**)    34 

- Interruptibility fee provided for by Resolution 277/07 7 13

- Regional network capacity fee as per Resolution ARG/gas 45/07 -  

   Equalisation 1 2

- CVOS fee provided for by Resolution ARG/gas 29/11(***)  29  

259 399

(*)  Electricity and Gas Authority Resolutions 93/10 and 177/10 introduce, with effect from 1 January 2011, the additional tariff components GST and RET, intended to finance, respectively, the 
“Account to offset subsidised tariffs for disadvantaged gas customers” (GS Account) and the “Fund for calculating and implementing energy savings and developing renewable sources in the 
natural gas sector” (RE Account). Amounts collected from Snam are paid, in equal amounts, to the Electricity Equalisation Fund.

(**) Relates to the coverage of charges connected to the balancing system. Amounts collected from Snam are paid, in equal amounts, to the Electricity Equalisation Fund.
(***) The CVOS component is provided for in Resolution ARG/gas 29/11 to create a mechanism to guarantee the revenue of storage companies, offsetting variations between revenue deriving 

from tariffs and the portion of revenue recognised to cover capital costs.

Core business revenue of €1,839 million mainly consists of regulated revenue from transportation (€982 million), distribution 

(€616 million), storage (€212 million) and LNG regasification (€12 million) services.

Core business revenue is analysed by business segment in Note 29, “Segment information”. Snam generates all of its 

revenue in Italy.

 

Other revenue and income (€66 million) breaks down as follows:  

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Income from gas sales for the balancing service (*) 46 51

Capital gains from disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 6 6

Income from property investments 3 2

Insurance compensation 1 2

Plant safety inspection fee and compensation for missed meter readings 5 1

Contractual penalties and other income relating to commercial contracts 5  

Other income 6 4

72 66

(*)  Revenue from the balancing business, operational since 1 December 2011, in accordance with Resolution ARG/gas 45/11 of the Electricity and Gas Authority, relates to sales of natural gas 
made for the purposes of balancing the gas network. The revenue is matched to operating costs linked to withdrawals from the gas storage system.

Snam’s business is not affected by seasonal factors which would have a significant impact on its annual or interim financial results.
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24) Operating costs

The key items under operating costs are described below. The reasons for material differences are described in the “Financial 

review” section of the interim directors’ report.

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Purchases, services and other costs  328 339

Personnel expense 177 170

 505 509

Operating costs include the costs of constructing and upgrading distribution infrastructure in accordance with IFRIC 12 (€147 

million and €130 million in the first half of 2012 and first half of 2013 respectively).

Purchases, services and other costs

Purchases, services and other costs (€339 million) break down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Costs incurred for raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods 101 50

Costs for services 220 212

Costs for the use of third-party assets 26 41

Change in raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods 29 61

Net accrual to (utilisation of) provisions for risks and charges 13 5

Other operating expenses 23 26

 412 395

Less:   

Raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods:   

Increase on internal work – purchases  (60)  (30)

  (60)  (30)

Services:   

Increase on internal work – services  (24)  (26)

  (24)  (26)

 328 339

Provisions for risks and charges (€5 million, net of surplus use) mainly relate to costs associated with the purchase of energy 

efficiency certificates in the natural gas distribution sector.
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Costs for services of €186 million relate to:

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Construction, planning and coordination of work 79 65

Purchase of transportation capacity (interconnection) 21 27

IT (information technology) services 18 20

Maintenance 16 16

Personnel-related services 12 13

Technical, legal, administrative and professional services 18 11

Utilities 10 11

Insurance 10 11

Telecommunications services 11 10

Other services 25 28

 220 212

Less:   

Increase on internal work capitalised in non-current assets - services (24) (26)

 (24) (26)

 196 186

Personnel expense 

Personnel expense of €170 million breaks down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Wages and salaries 141 139

Social security contributions (pensions and healthcare assistance) 44 43

Employee benefits 3 3

Other expenses 11 12

Less:   

Increase on internal work - personnel expense (22)  (27)

 177 170

The average number of payroll employees included in the scope of consolidation, broken down by status, is as follows:  

Professional status (number) 30.06.2012 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

Executives 117 119 116

Managers 552 554 571

Office workers 3,266 3,258 3,250

Manual workers 2,149 2,136 2,095

 6,084 6,067 6,032

The average number of employees is calculated as the average monthly figure.
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Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses of €376 million break down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Amortisation and depreciation   

Property, plant and equipment 255 264

Intangible assets 90 112

345 376

Amortisation and depreciation (€376 million) relate to the natural gas transportation (€235 million), distribution (€105 

million), storage (€33 million) and regasification (€2 million) segments. 

25) Financial expense (income) 

Financial expense (income) of €262 million breaks down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Financial income (2) (3)

Financial expense 126 265

 124 262

Derivatives 43  

 167 262

The net value of financial income and expense (€262 million) breaks down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Financial expense related to net financial debt 134 265

- Interest and other expenses on bond loans  133

- Interest and other expenses from banks and other financial backers 134 132

Other financial expense(income)   

- Accretion discount (*) 7 7

- Other financial expense 2 10

- Other financial income (2) (3)

 7 14

Financial expense capitalised (17) (17)

124 262

(*)  This item refers to the increase in provisions for risks and charges, which are reported at discounted value under non-current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Financial expense related to net financial debt (€265 million) refers to: (i) interest expense on eight bond loans (€133 

million); (ii) interest expense payable to banks relating to revolving lines of credit, uncommitted lines of credit and fixed-

term loans totalling €99 million (including €33 million relating to the portion pertaining to the year of up-front fees on 

a term loan of €1.5 billion that was repaid early in the first half of 2013); and (iii) the portion pertaining to the year of 

up-front fees on revolving lines of credit (€13 million) and fees on unused lines of credit (€20 million). Financial expense 

capitalised (€17 million) relates to the part of financial expense absorbed by investment activities.
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26) Income (expense) from equity investments 

Income (expense) from equity investments (€35 million) is analysed below.

(€ million)    First half 2012 First half 2013

Capital gains from measurement by the equity method 24 35 

    24 35

Details of capital gains from measurement by the equity method (€35 million) can be found in Note 9, “Equity-accounted 

investments”.

27) Income taxes

Income taxes (€331 million) break down as follows:

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Current taxes:   

- IRES 332 304

- IRAP 63 65

 395 369

Deferred and prepaid taxes:   

- Deferred  (37)  (36)

- Prepaid 4  (2)

  (33)  (38)

 362 331

The impact of taxes on pre-tax profit for the period is 41.7% (41.6% in the first half of 2012) in view of the theoretical tax 

rate of 33.6% (33% in the first half of 2012), which is obtained by applying the statutory tax rate of 27.5% (IRES) to pre-tax 

profit and 3.9% (IRAP) to the net value of production.

The greater impact of tax compared with the theoretical rate is mainly due to application of the “Robin Hood Tax” (8.4 

percentage points in the first half 2013).

28) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are determined by dividing net profit for the period by the weighted average number of Snam 

shares in issue during the period, excluding treasury shares. 

Diluted earnings per share are determined by dividing net profit by the weighted average number of outstanding shares 

during the period, excluding treasury shares, increased by the number of shares which could potentially be issued following 

the allocation or disposal of treasury shares held under stock option plans.

The weighted average number of outstanding shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share is 3,378,679,890 and 

3,379,132,663 respectively for the first half of 2012 and the first half of 2013. 

The reconciliation of the weighted average number of outstanding shares used to determine basic and diluted earnings per 

share is set out below:

 First half 2012 First half 2013

Weighted average number of outstanding shares used to calculate basic earnings per share  3,378,634,943 3,379,128,771

Number of potential shares following stock option plans  44,947 3,892

Weighted average number of outstanding shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share 3,378,679,890 3,379,132,663

Net profit attributable to Snam (€ million)  508 462

Basic earnings per share (€ million) 0.15 0.14

Diluted earnings per share (€ million) 0.15 0.14
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29) Segment information

(€ million) T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n 
an

d 
di

sp
at

ch

D
is

tr
ib

ut
io

n

St
o

ra
ge

R
eg

as
ifi

ca
ti

o
n

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

Pr
o

fi
ts

 o
n

 s
to

ck

C
o

n
so

lid
at

io
n 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

T
o

ta
l

First half 2012

Net core business revenue (a) 961 619 220 17 80   1,897

Less: inter-segment revenue (5) (1) (20) (6) (74)   (106)

Revenue from third parties 956 618 200 11 6   1,791

Other revenue and income 49 22  1    72

Net accrual to provisions for risks and charges  (13)      (13)

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses (224) (87) (31) (2) (1)   (345)

Income from valuation at equity  24      24

EBIT 589 259 159 2 4   1,013

Directly attributable current assets 1,220 462 605 13 148   2,448

Directly attributable non-current assets 11,977 4,301 3,155 87 22   19,542

Of which:         

- Equity-accounted investments  310      310

Directly attributable current liabilities 2,701 1,215 1,210 14 184   5,324

Directly attributable non-current liabilities 6,493 1,340 1,508 16 1,526   10,883

Capital expenditure 301 157 63  3   524

First half 2013

Net core business revenue (a) 990 624 252 16 80   1,962

Less: inter-segment revenue (7) (1) (37) (4) (74)   (123)

Revenue from third parties 983 623 215 12 6   1,839

Other revenue and income 50 15 1     66

Net accrual to provisions for risks and charges (3) 8      5

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses (235) (105) (33) (2) (1)   (376)

Income from valuation at equity  31   4   35

EBIT 593 252 173 3 (1)   1,020

Directly attributable current assets 1,161 503 789 10 60   2,523

Directly attributable non-current assets 12,115 4,373 3,357 86 186   20,117

Of which:         

- Equity-accounted investments  306   124   430

Directly attributable current liabilities 3,221 1,240 1,170 14 1,220  (4,008) 2,857

Directly attributable non-current liabilities 6,853 1,463 1,919 15 11,552  (7,862) 13,940

Capital expenditure 239 143 105 1 3 (1)  490

(a) Before elimination of inter-segment revenue.

Inter-segment revenue is generated by applying regulated tariffs or market conditions. Revenue of the Company is generated 

entirely in Italy; costs are incurred almost entirely in Italy. 

30) Related-party transactions

Snam’s related parties are associate companies and companies under joint control, as well as subsidiaries outside the Group’s 

scope of consolidation, and other companies owned or controlled by the State, particularly by Group companies Eni, Enel and CDP. 

Transactions with these entities refer to the exchange of assets and the provision of regulated services within the gas sector and, 

with regard to CDP, the provision of financial resources. Members of the Board of Directors, Statutory Auditors and Group Snam 

managers with strategic responsibilities, and their families, are also regarded as related parties.
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Transactions between Snam and related parties are part of ordinary business operations and are generally settled under market 

conditions, i.e. the conditions that would be applied between two independent parties. All the transactions carried out were in 

the interest of the companies of the Snam Group. 

Pursuant to the provisions of the relevant legislation, the Company has adopted internal procedures to ensure that transactions 

carried out by Snam or its subsidiaries with related parties are transparent and correct in their substance and procedure11. 

Directors and auditors declare their interests affecting the Company and the Group every six months, and/or when changes 

in said interests occur; they also inform the CEO (or the Chairman, in the case of the CEO), who in turns informs the other 

directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors, of individual transactions that the Company intends to carry out and in which 

they have an interest.

There are no shareholders that exercise control over Snam. Snam is not subject to management and coordination. Snam 

manages and coordinates its subsidiaries, pursuant to Article 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code.

COMMERCIAL AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS 

Name 30.06.2012 First half 2012

 Crediti Debiti Garanzie Costs (a) Revenue (b)

(€ million)    Goods Services Other Goods Services Other

Companies under joint control and associates        

- A.E.S. S.p.A. 21 3         

- Servizi Territori Aree Penisole S.p.A. 3          

- Toscana Energia S.p.A. 12 1     1  

- Other (c) 2      1 1

 38 4     2 1

Companies owned or controlled by the State        

- Anas group 2 4        

- Enel group 92 21     212  

- Eni group 452 444 44 5 54 2 944 24

- Ferrovie dello Stato group 3      2  

 549 469 44 5 54 2 1,158 24

Total 587 473 44 5 54 2 1,160 25

(a) Includes costs for goods and services to be used in investment activities. 
(b)  Before tariff components which are offset in costs.
(c)  Individually less than €1 million.

11 The procedure for related-party transactions, pursuant to Article 4 of Consob Regulation 17221 of 12 March 2010, as subsequently amended, which was 
approved by the Board on 30 November 2010, is available on the Company’s website at www.snam.it, in the Governance section.
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COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS

Name 30.06.2013 First half 2013

 Crediti Debiti Garanzie Costs (a) Revenue (b)

(€ million)    Goods Services Other Goods Services Other

Companies under joint control and associates        

- A.E.S. S.p.A. 34 3         

- ACAM Gas S.p.A. 2          

- GasBridge 1 B.V. GasBridge 2 B.V. 5  

- Servizi Territori Aree Penisole S.p.A. 2  

- Toscana Energia S.p.A. 31 1 1  

 74 4 1  

Companies owned or controlled by the State   

- Anas group 1 5   1   

- Enel group 90 32    205  

- Eni group 397 255 12 4 36 1 1,011 2

- Ferrovie dello Stato group 1      1  

 489 292 12 4 36 2 1,217 2

Total 563 296 12 4 36 2 1,218 2

(a) Includes costs for goods and services to be used in investment activities. 
(b)  Before tariff components which are offset in costs.

Commercial transactions  

Companies under joint control and associates  

Transactions with companies under joint control and associates relate to the provision of IT services governed by contracts 

entered into under normal market conditions.

Companies owned or controlled by the State 

Relations with other companies owned or controlled by the State mainly refer to the Eni group, and concern the provision of 

regulated gas services relating to transportation, regasification, distribution and storage, on the basis of tariffs established by 

the Electricity and Gas Authority.

The most significant passive commercial relations with the Eni group include: (i) the planning and supervision of works to build 

natural gas transportation infrastructure, governed by contracts concluded under normal market conditions; (ii) the provision of 

electricity and natural gas used in activities connected to the building of storage infrastructure, governed by contracts concluded 

under normal market conditions; and (iii) the provision of consultancy services and technical and operational assistance relating 

to storage reservoirs. These transactions are governed by service agreements on the basis of the costs incurred.
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Other transactions

As established by the contract for the purchase of Italgas and Stogit from Eni, signed on 30 June 2009, the price determined 

for the acquisition of the two companies is subject to adjustment mechanisms, to be applied if necessary after the date of 

execution of the contract, based on commitments assumed when the acquisition was finalised.

Transactions with other companies owned or controlled by the State relate mainly to the Enel group and concern natural 

gas transportation, regasification, distribution and storage services. These transactions are governed on the basis of tariffs 

established by the Electricity and Gas Authority.

FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS

Name 30.06.2012 First half 2012

(€ million) D
eb

it
i

A
lt

re
 

pa
ss

iv
it

à 
(a

)

O
ne

ri
 (

b)
 (

c)
 

Ultimate parent   
 
 

 Eni S.p.A. 10,238 324 176

 10,238 324 176

(a)  Includes assets and liabilities arising from the measurement of derivatives.
(b)  Includes financial expense to be used in investment activities. 
(c) Includes €43 million relating to expenses on derivatives.

Name 30.06.2013 First half 2013

(€ million) Pa
ya

bl
es

Ex
pe

n
se

s 
State-owned or -controlled companies   

- Cassa Depositi e Prestiti 403 6

Investments in entities under joint control

- GasBridge 1 B.V. and GasBridge 2 B.V. 5

408 6

Impact of related-party transactions or positions on the balance sheet, income statement and statement of cash flows

The effect of related-party transactions or positions on the balance sheet is summarised in the following table.  

 

 31.12.2012 30.06.2013

(€ million) Total
Related
parties 

Share
(%) Total 

Related
parties 

Share
(%)

Trade and other receivables 2,048 545 26.6 2,237 563 25.2

Short-term financial liabilities 505 141 27.9 798 5 0.6

Long-term financial liabilities 12,049 402 3.3 11,766 403 3.4

Trade and other payables 1,477 304 20.6 1,517 296 19.5

Other current liabilities 218   147 2 1.4
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The effect of related-party transactions or positions on the income statement is summarised in the following table.

 First half 2012 First half 2013

(€ million) Total
Related
parties 

Share
(%) Total 

Related
parties 

Share
(%)

Core business revenue 1,791 1,160 64.8 1,839 1,218 66.2

Other revenue and income 72 25 34.7 66 2 3.0

Purchases, services and other costs 328 23 7.0 339 17 5.0

Financial expense 126 116 92.1 265 6 2.3

Losses on derivative contracts 43 43 100.0

The principal cash flows with related parties are shown in the following table.

(€ million) First half 2012 First half 2013

Revenue and income 1,185 1,220

Cost and expense (23) (17)

Change in trade and other receivables 74 (14)

Change in trade and other payables 53 31

Dividends collected 2 1

Interest paid (155) (6)

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,136 1,215

Investments:   

- Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (55) (25)

- Companies entering the scope of consolidation 5  

- Change in payables and receivables relating to investments (18) (30)

Cash flows from investment activities (68) (55)

Net cash flows from investment activities (68) (55)

Taking on long-term financial debt 21 3

Repaying long-term financial debt (1,227) (2)

Increase (decrease) in short-term financial debt 245 (136)

Dividends paid (263) (195)

Net cash flows from financing activities (1,224) (330)

Total cash flows with related parties (156) 830
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The effect of cash flows with related parties is shown in the following table.

 First half 2012 First half 2013

(€ million) Total
Related
parties 

Share
(%) Total 

Related
parties 

Share
(%)

Cash flow from operating activities 614 1,136  1,060 1,215  

Cash flow from investment activities (678) (68) 10.0 (577) (55) 9.6

Cash flow from financing activities 78 (1,224)  (494) (330) 66.8

31) Significant non-recurring events and transactions

No significant non-recurring events and/or transactions took place in the first half of 2013.

32) Positions or transactions deriving from atypical and/or unusual transactions

No positions or transactions deriving from atypical and/or unusual transactions are reported for the first half of 2013. 

33) Post-balance sheet events 

Post-balance sheet events are described in the “Post-balance sheet events” section of the interim directors’ report.
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Certification of the condensed interim financial statements required pursuant 
to Article 81-ter of Consob Regulation 11971 of 14 May 1999, as subsequently 
amended

1.  The undersigned Carlo Malacarne and Antonio Paccioretti, as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of 

Snam S.p.A. respectively, certify, taking into account Article 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4 of Legislative Decree 58 of 

24 February 1998:

- the adequacy, considering the Company’s characteristics, and 

- the effective implementation

 of the administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of the condensed interim financial statements at 30 

June 2013, during the first half of 2013.

2.  The administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of the condensed interim financial statements at 30 June 

2013 and the assessment of their adequacy were carried out using the rules and methods set out in line with the Internal 

Control - Integrated Framework model issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission, 

a benchmark framework for the internal control system generally accepted internationally. 

3.  It is also certified that: 

3.1  The condensed interim financial statements at 30 June 2013:

a)  were prepared in accordance with the applicable international accounting standards recognised in the European 

Community pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002;

b)  are consistent with the accounting records and ledgers;

c) are able to provide a true and fair view of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer 

and of the companies included in the scope of consolidation.

3.2 The interim directors’ report includes a fair review of the references to important events which occurred during the first 

six months of the year and their impact on the condensed interim financial statements, together with a description of 

the main risks and uncertainties for the remaining six months of the year. The interim directors’ report also includes a 

fair review of the information about significant transactions with related parties.

30 July 2013

 /signature/Carlo Malacarne  /signature/Antonio Paccioretti 

 ___________________ _____________________

 Carlo Malacarne Antonio Paccioretti 

 Chief Executive Officer  Director of Planning, Administration, Finance and Control
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